Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Christine Ruth Cooper

Date

Strategies to Reduce Sexual and Reproductive Health Stigma: A Systematic Review of Interventions to Reduce Abortion, Infertility, Contraceptive Use, and Sexuality Stigma

By

Christine Ruth Cooper Master of Public Health

Global Health

John Blevins, Th.D., M.Div. Committee Chair

Whitney S. Rice, Dr.PH, MPH Committee Member Strategies to Reduce Sexual and Reproductive Health Stigma: A Systematic Review of Interventions to Reduce Abortion, Infertility, Contraceptive Use, and Sexuality Stigma

By

Christine Ruth Cooper

Bachelor of Arts The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill 2011

Thesis Committee Chair: John Blevins, Th.D.

An abstract of A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Global Health 2020

Abstract

Strategies to Reduce Sexual and Reproductive Health Stigma: A Systematic Review of Interventions to Reduce Abortion, Infertility, Contraceptive Use, and Sexuality Stigma

By Christine Ruth Cooper

Background: Globally, stigma has been observed around sexual and reproductive health in the areas of contraceptive use, infertility, abortion, and sexuality. Stigma across socioecological levels (internalized, interpersonal, organizational, community, and structural) can cause stress, isolation, depression; affect the quality of life; and avoidance of healthy behaviors and health services, all leading to poor health outcomes. Interventions to reduce stigma associated with SRH are required to avoid these poor health outcomes.

Methods: A systematic literature search in PubMed, PsycINFO and CINAHL was completed to identify articles with the primary or subsequent goal of reducing stigma regarding contraceptive use, abortion, infertility, or sexuality. The search was limited to English-language studies published by December 2019. Data was abstracted on study- and intervention-level characteristics, and populations included. The data was synthesized and relevant gaps were identified.

Results: Forty-six studies met inclusion criteria and were analyzed. The studies were divided into pregnancy related stigma (n=9) – abortion, contraceptive, and infertility stigma – and sexuality related stigma (n=37) – sexual minority status, sexual behavior, and female sex work. Most studies focused on changing attitudes, beliefs, and prejudice among those who hold stigmatizing SRH attitudes (46%) while a third of the studies focused on reducing internalized stigma. More interventions employed a one-time presentation that lasted three-hours or less (41%) and one-third required multiple sessions of four or more hours. Participants were 64% female, 31% male and 5% Transgender. Twenty-six studies provided racial and ethnic demographic data showing participants were 64% White, 14% Black, 9% Hispanic/Latino(a), 6% Asian, 1% Native American, 2% Multi-racial, 1% Other and 4% missing. Sixty-five percent of the studies were conducted in North America.

Conclusion: Published SRH stigma intervention studies over the last 26 years in the literature largely focused on sexuality stigma in North America and relatively less contraceptive use, infertility, and abortion stigma intervention studies were available. There is need for more interventions that incorporate multi-level approaches and integrate several types of intervention that have shown some efficacy. The results of this review point to opportunities for SRH stigma intervention work in less studied pregnancy-related stigma areas and areas outside of high-income countries.

Strategies to Reduce Sexual and Reproductive Health Stigma: A Systematic Review of Interventions to Reduce Abortion, Infertility, Contraceptive Use, and Sexuality Stigma

By

Christine Ruth Cooper

Bachelor of Arts The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill 2011

Thesis Committee Chair: John Blevins, Th.D.

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Global Health 2020

Acknowledgments

I wish to thank all the people whose assistance was indispensable in the completion of this project. First, I want to recognize Dr. Rice. She motivated me to produce a systematic review looking at stigma and sexual and reproductive health and has been a guide through the entire process. Every meeting with her has pushed me to think about stigma more holistically, and how to write about complex topics like stigma and the individuals it affects. She spent countless hours reviewing and commenting on every draft in ways that pushed me to think about the problems and topics in new and deeper ways. Unsurprisingly, this pushed me into hours of research to better understand the issues covered by my thesis. I am thankful for her expertise, but also encouragement and support over the last year.

I would also like to thank Dr. Blevins. In addition to serving as my thesis chair, he also shared his expertise and experiences as my applied practicum advisor and as my professor of two important courses in my master of public health education. He gave me a framework to bring together two significant parts of my life – public health and my faith. His input into this project brought important focus to concepts that needed further development. I am grateful for all of his input and support in my master of public health.

Hannah Rogers was central in helping me to create my search terms for the three databases used in this systemic review. I am grateful for her expertise as a Liberian information specialist, and the time and insight she provided to build a strong search term. I also want to recognize Janice D'souza. She has been a true friend to me in this season of life. During the stay at home orders in Atlanta, she checked in on me almost daily and always provided encouragement. Additionally, as a colleague, she was my second reviewer for 1733 studies. This role made data collection less biased and more reliable overall.

I also want to recognize Subasri Narasimhan. As my REAL supervisor during my second year of my MPH, she has provided encouragement and advice. I value the conversations we have had about career direction, and the topics of abortion, contraceptive use, and broader SRH stigma in different contexts. She has provided needed space to destress and focus on my thesis in a time when demands for time are increasing. I must also mention my "thesis buddies" group, I am grateful for peers who laugh and cry through every step of us all writing our thesis...

I want to thank my boyfriend, Cas, for always putting my needs before his. He is the first to volunteer we spend less time together or adjust when we hang out so that I can focus on school. As I have written this thesis, a chunk under stay at home orders in Atlanta, he has supported my need to quarantine by myself so that I can focus on my thesis. We will spend over three weeks apart as I finish this, and with every adjustment of my timeline, he has encouraged me to finish strong and at my best.

I cannot talk about support during my master's program without acknowledging Marcy Louza. From the moment I landed in Atlanta from Nairobi to visit Rollins as a potential school to get my MPH, she has been that person I can turn to. She welcomed me into her family and friends in Atlanta. She gave me a home base during a very transitional period of life. Her presence and emotional support as a close friend got me through two years of graduate school. She calls to make sure I am alive when she hasn't heard from me and sent me home with groceries when I needed it. I can never thank her enough for being my friend and creating a family for me in Atlanta.

Table of Contents

Distribution Agreement	i
Approval Sheet	ii
Abstract Cover Page	iii
Abstract	iv
Cover Page	V
Acknowledgements	vi
Chapter One: Introduction	1
Background and Rationale	1
Problem Statement	7
Purpose Statement and Research Question	8
Significance Statement	8
Definition of Terms	9
Chapter Two: Literature Review	10
Why We Need Interventions (What is the Big Deal with Stigma)	10
Status of Stigma Interventions (HIV and Mental Health)	12
Stigma and Sexual and Reproductive Health	14
Chapter Three: Methods	21
Search Strategy	21
Study Selection	22
Data Abstraction	23
Figure 1. PRISMA flow diagram	24
Chapter Four: Results	

Study Characteristics	25
Table 1. Study Level Description	26
Intervention Characteristics	28
Table 2. Intervention Level Characteristics	29
Populations Included	31
Table 3. Population Level Characteristics	32
Pregnancy Related Stigma Studies	33
Sexuality Related Stigma Studies	34
Table 4. Geographic Region by Sexuality	39
Chapter Five: Discussion, Conclusion, Recommendations	40
Discussion	40
Limitations and Strengths	49
Conclusion	50
Public Health Implications	50
References	55
Appendix A Studies Included in Review	92
Appendix B Search Terms for Databases	.108

Chapter One: Introduction

Background and Rationale

Historically, stigma has been observed around sexual and reproductive health (SRH) areas such as infertility, menstruation, abortion, sexual behaviors, and use of contraceptives across the globe (Cleland, Harbison, & Shah, 2014; Rebecca J. Cook & Bernard M. Dickens, 2014; Friedman et al., 2014; Garg & Anand, 2015; Franz Hanschmidt, Linde, Hilbert, Riedel-Heller, & Kersting, 2016; Platt et al., 2018; Rouchou, 2013). Stigma spoils an individual's social character and relegates them to the fringes of society (Goffman, 1963). This can happen as individuals are labeled and linked to negative attributes then separated into groups of "us versus them." Those individuals then experience discrimination or other less obvious negative biases (Link & Phelan, 2001). Stigma can cause stress, isolation, depression, affect the quality of life, and contribute to avoidance of healthy behaviors and health services, all leading to poor health outcomes (Asbo, 2018; Clement et al., 2015; Mark L. Hatzenbuehler, Phelan, & Link, 2013; Link, Struening, Rahav, Phelan, & Nuttbrock, 1997). Research on the significance and impact of stigma on health and health behaviors has created a framework to begin defining stigma as a social determinant of health (Mark L. Hatzenbuehler et al., 2013). Studies have found stigma associated with mental health, HIV/AIDS, infectious diseases such as leprosy, and groups of people such as African Americans (B. A. Pescosolido & Martin, 2015). Over more than 20 years, research has focused on stigma around sexual orientation and behaviors, contraceptive use, abortion, and other SRH areas (R. J. Cook & B. M. Dickens, 2014; Frost, 2011; Hakansson, Oguttu, Gemzell-Danielsson, & Makenzius, 2018; Franz Hanschmidt, Katja Linde, Anja Hilbert, Steffi G. Riedel- Heller, et al., 2016). As this research emerged, a global response developed to

eliminate stigma and discrimination including in SRH settings (Boyer, 2018; Hall, Morhe, et al., 2018; Hussein & Ferguson, 2019; Nyblade, Stockton, Nyato, & Wamoyi, 2017; Starrs et al., 2018).

The stigma connected to infertility, abortion and other areas of SRH has persisted over generations and pervades lives today across the globe. This includes taboo and discrimination associated with the menstrual cycle, the desire to delay a pregnancy, the use of a contraceptive method of choice, and, more obviously, obtaining an abortion (R. J. Cook & B. M. Dickens, 2014; Garg & Anand, 2015; Makenzius, McKinney, Oguttu, & Romild, 2019). For example, women who obtain abortions may conceal their abortion causing anxiety and isolation (Franz Hanschmidt, Katja Linde, Anja Hilbert, Steffi G. Riedel- Heller, et al., 2016). The need for inclusive services for LGBTQ+ individuals has only recently been acknowledged and explored in relation to health services with very little focus on SRH specifically (C. M. Parker, Hirsch, Philbin, & Parker, 2018). In any SRH area with stigma or discrimination attached to it, we see lower uptake in SRH services to avoid stigma and discrimination, and different levels of quality of services based on location and stigmatizing environments ("Do Sexual Minorities Receive Appropriate Sexual and Reproductive Health Care and Counseling?," 2019; Hussein & Ferguson, 2019). Each of these can impact an individual's daily decisions and life.

Stigma around SRH has been documented in a variety of populations across low, middle, and high-income countries. For example, taboos have existed in India for generations around women's menstruation. This can prevent menstruating women from participating in normal activities such as cooking and entering specific rooms because they are socially deemed as "impure" (Garg & Anand, 2015). In Nigeria, the provision and use of contraceptives by unmarried women has been criticized for promoting sex outside of marriage, something the

culture does not support (Ahanonu, 2014). Nigerian youth in turn may not use contraceptives in part because of shame, stigma and embarrassment (Lindberg, Lewis-Spruill, & Crownover, 2006). Similarly in Ireland, contraction of sexually transmitted infections (STIs) is connected to loose morals and stigma among women (Myles Balfe et al., 2010).

Infertility is a mark of shame going back thousands of years that crosses borders from the United States to Nigeria (Dimka & Dein, 2013; Sternke & Abrahamson, 2015). The cultural shame connected to infertility is so strong in some areas that women are ostracized when they are unable to have biological children (Cui, 2010). Globally, abortion and different sexual behaviors are stigmatized. In many societies, there is judgment of unmarried women who obtain an abortion as not taking responsibility for the consequences of having sex outside of marriage, and belief that married women who have an abortion are rejecting motherhood (Peters, 2018). Additionally, sexual behaviors that break "social norms" such as sex work and same sex attraction have historically faced discrimination and stigma (Herek, Gillis, & Cogan, 2015).

Research has documented a number of potential sources of stigma. Different religious teachings have connected sex outside of marriage to sin or an immoral act that goes against divine law ("Sin," 2020). The desire to not be connected to behaviors associated with sin leads individuals to hide aspects of themselves and their history such as sexual behaviors, use of contraceptives, and decision to have an abortion. The Catholic church has a stance that the use of contraceptives and condoms is sinful (Catholic Church, 1994). Despite individual Latin American Catholics' views becoming more accepting of contraceptives and abortion, the Catholic Church actively fights to keep restrictive and conservative laws in place across Latin America (Richardson & Birn, 2011). The Catholic church played a key role in influencing civil and criminal laws that match church values around contraceptive use and abortion, but over time

society has changed to be less aligned with these values while the civil and criminal codes have remained unaffected (Htun, 2009). For example, polls in Uruguay show that 63 percent of the population favor decriminalizing abortion, but the influence of the Catholic church on policy has contributed to the abortion laws not changing (Htun, 2009). The origin of impurity during menstruation in India is connected to myths from the Vedic period and Hindu teachings that advise women not to enter a kitchen, among other things, during menstruation because they are "impure" and unhygienic and can contaminate food and other objects (Garg & Anand, 2015).

Research suggests that abortion and LGBTQ+ stigma are not universal, but rather a social event that occurs locally through identified social and political processes that prompt the normalization of abortion or LGBTQ+ stigma (Epprecht, 2012; A. Kumar, L. Hessini, & E. M. H. Mitchell, 2009). Sexuality stigma looks different across social-cultural contexts, and public expressions of LGBTQ+ stigma may not accurately represent cultural norms (Epprecht, 2012). For example, western media portrays homophobia as a problem specific to the African continent, ignoring the diverse ways many groups have found to practice same-sex relationships under traditional practices such as spirit possession and woman-woman marriage (Epprecht, 2012). An example of this process around abortion stigma is evident in attempts to change abortion laws by state legislatures. For instance, in 2019, several U.S. states passed legislation to limit abortion after six weeks on moral grounds of protecting the life of the unborn fetus. With limits on abortion in the news and the current polarized environment, there is an increased focus on stigma around accessing these services. Additionally, abortion policies have implications for health outcomes as they affect access to health care. As abortion laws and the perception of these laws by the public are evaluated for impact on SRH, understanding how to combat stigma around abortion and other important reproductive health topics will be significant.

The stigmatization of SRH has consequences that affect individuals on multiple levels including the association of stigma with poor health outcomes. Shame around unplanned pregnancies and abortion can lead individuals to search for underground abortion practitioners who may not have proper qualifications or access to necessary tools needed to provide a safe abortion (Rebecca J. Cook & Bernard M. Dickens, 2014). In 2012, it was estimated 6.9 million women in developing regions with abortion restrictions were treated for complications from an unsafe abortion and eight percent of maternal deaths worldwide are estimated to be from unsafe abortions (Bearak, Popinchalk, Alkema, & Sedgh, 2018; Ganatra et al., 2017). Current research shows that more restrictive abortion laws are associated with higher maternal mortality from abortion (Horga, Gerdts, & Potts, 2013), while abortion reform in countries with restriction may lower maternal mortality (Latt, Milner, & Kavanagh, 2019). Even in countries with legal access to abortion, stigma has been found to be a barrier to accessing a safe abortion (A. Kumar, L. Hessini, & E. M. Mitchell, 2009). In many places, the physical presence of a health center is not enough to provide SRH services. In addition to a clinic with trained staff and the necessary resources, stigma needs to be addressed for full access to SRH services to happen and impact key indicators such as maternal mortality and morbidity.

Stigma directly contributes to limited access to SRH services and ability to receive needed information. Health professionals who work in abortion services face more stress and internalized stigma (Lisa A. Martin et al., 2014). Stress comes from the stigmatizing environment that exists around abortion work in the U.S. Health professionals shared feeling marginalized in the medical community, unappreciated by society, and worried about disclosing abortion work, all of which contributed to internalized abortion stigma (Lisa A. Martin et al., 2014). More obstetrics and gynecology residents indicate a desire to provide abortions in the

U.S. than ultimately do. A contributing factor to the limited and small number of practitioners has been stigma and tension with fellow providers once they begin to practice (Freedman, Landy, Darney, & Steinauer, 2010). OBGYNs who intend to provide abortions have found out after hire their private practice would not allow them to provide the service, often because a senior provider was opposed, or during practice have been confronted by fellow providers for referring for abortion or performing an abortion (Freedman et al., 2010). This limits access to an important SRH service. Individuals also choose to not seek health care due to stigma (Rebecca J. Cook & Bernard M. Dickens, 2014). For example, unmarried women do not seek SRH care, especially contraception and abortion because of social stigma in some contexts (Blanc, 2001; Starrs et al., 2018). This can delay important STI or reproductive cancer screenings and treatment of STIs and reproductive cancer leading to poor health outcomes (Starrs et al., 2018)

Addressing stigma related to SRH is important to well-being globally. There is need to synthesize the literature identifying and describe SRH stigma interventions. Reviewing research on the topic will add to the current body of knowledge by identifying and summarizing strategies that have worked to reduce stigma around SRH. Just as important, there is need to identify and summarize what has not worked. Knowledge of successful and less successful approaches can inform the development, adaption and, implementation of SRH stigma interventions, or the redirection of resources elsewhere. In all research and interventions, it is important to establish who has been included and whether any populations have been left out in order to determine how generalizable study information is. Additionally, findings could determine whether any programs have an impact on stigma around infertility, abortion, sexual behaviors, and use of contraceptives.

Problem Statement

Sexual and reproductive health has been declared a human right and important to the well-being of individuals and by extension society (Nations, 2014). Across the globe, social stigma is tied to various SRH needs ranging from shaming infertility, reproach of use of contraceptives, and criminalizing and restricting abortion rights. Stigma can be perceived, experienced, and internalized by both those receiving reproductive services and those performing the services (Rebecca J. Cook & Bernard M. Dickens, 2014). Individuals may feel uncomfortable confronting negatives attitudes around SRH and avoid accessing critical services to avoid being stigmatized (Rebecca J. Cook & Bernard M. Dickens, 2014). In addition, practitioners are stigmatized for providing SRH services and, as a result, may seek work they perceive to be less stigmatizing, such as obstetrics and gynecology professionals not integrating abortion services into practice (Freedman et al., 2010). Fewer healthcare professionals in the field of SRH further compounds accessibility issues within local healthcare markets when demand for services remains constant or increases (Norris et al., 2011).

Behavioral interventions to reduce stigma associated with SRH are required to avoid the aforementioned consequences of SRH stigmatization. Evaluation and assessment of interventions to reduce stigma around SRH are needed to understand generalizability, acceptability, and efficacy. Additionally, it is important to identify who has been included or excluded from interventions to ensure all populations are served by interventions. The analysis of current research and interventions will inform future research as to where new or additional focus is needed to better address stigma in SRH. This information could facilitate future interventions for individuals to access SRH services fully and without shame.

Purpose Statement and Research Question

The purpose of this systematic review is to answer the following questions: *What* strategies for reducing stigma around sexual and reproductive health have been evaluated for effectiveness within an international context? What distinguishes effective verses ineffective strategies for reducing stigma around SRH within an international context? What populations are included in interventions/programs for reducing stigma around SRH within an international context? For the purposes of this review, SRH topics will be limited specifically to abortion, contraceptive use, infertility, and sexual behaviors.

Significance Statement

This review of stigma and SRH will be useful for reproductive health programs, policy, practice, and research. Reproductive health practitioners, policymakers, researchers, advocates, and other professionals can benefit from the analysis and synthesis of current literature on stigma and SRH. Systematic reviews have the potential to make research more accessible to a broader audience. The individuals and groups mentioned above may benefit by finding summaries, key insights, and potential applications in one place. Knowing and understanding what behavioral interventions work and in what context will contribute to future work that desires to develop interventions in new contexts.

Definition of Terms

The World Health Organization definition of SRH contains the following, "People are sexual beings all their lives. The purposes of sexual health care should be the enhancement of life and personal relationships, and not merely counselling and care related to procreation or sexually transmitted infections. Reproductive health (RH) implies that people are able to have a responsible, satisfying and safe sex life and that they have the capability to have children and the freedom to decide if, when and how often to do so.

Men and women should have access to the safe, effective, affordable and acceptable methods of fertility regulation of their choice, and to appropriate health care services that will enable women to go safely through pregnancy and childbirth, and provide couples with the best chance of having healthy infants." ("Sexual and reproductive health," 2019).

Stigma is described to exist when five factors converge:

1) Labeling of human differences

2) Prevalent cultural beliefs link labeled individuals to "negative stereotypes,"

3) Labeled individuals are separated categorized to create "us versus them" and separation

4) Labeled individual experience prejudice and disparate outcomes,

5) Differences in social, political and economic power (Link & Phelan, 2001)

Chapter Two: Literature Review

Why We Need Interventions (What is the Big Deal with Stigma?)

Stigma spoils an individual's social character and relegates them to the fringes of society (Goffman, 1963). This can happen as individuals are labeled then linked to negative attributes and separated into groups of "us versus them." Those individuals may then experience status loss, discrimination, or other forms of oppression (Link & Phelan, 2001). Stigma affects an assortment of populations across diverse incomes and educational levels throughout the globe (Mark L. Hatzenbuehler et al., 2013; B. A. Pescosolido & Martin, 2015; B. A. Pescosolido, Medina, Martin, & Long, 2013; Rao et al., 2019). Stigma is not a problem specific to any one population, people face stigma regarding their body size, race/ethnicity, sexual orientation, the use of public benefits, voluntary childlessness, nonnative accents, chronic diseases and many other personal characteristics, behaviors, and health-related areas (B. A. Pescosolido & Martin, 2015). Stigma may be worse for groups who have several stigmatized identities, such as having a mental illness and being HIV positive, than for groups who only have one (Jackson-Best & Edwards, 2018). Additionally, the impact of stigma changes across regions and populations depending on the cultural and social contexts that inform resources and policies that either help fight discrimination and stigma such as the U.S. Supreme Court ruling that guaranteed marriage for same sex couples versus the Kenyan Constitution which does not recognize same sex marriage and supports discrimination and stigma ("Constitution of Kenya," 2010; "Obergefell v. Hodges," 2015; Seckinelgin, 2009). Stigma around any given topic will function differently across regions given the cultural constructs that exist and the intersections of religion, culture, and social norms (Epprecht, 2012; Bernice A. Pescosolido, Martin, Lang, & Olafsdottir, 2008).

Most studies that examine stigma have focused on a single stigmatizing characteristic and outcome at a specific level of the socioecological model, and not on the impact of stigma on multiple domains, levels, and outcomes that compound on one another (Mark L. Hatzenbuehler et al., 2013). This state of the stigma literature led Hatzenbuehler, Phelan, and Link (2013) to argue that stigma should be considered a social determinant of health. Social determinants of health are recognized as social areas in need of research to address disparities in health and healthcare and advance health (Artiga & Hinton, May 10, 2018).

Stigma can cause stress, isolation, and depression; affect the quality of life; and contribute to the avoidance of healthy behaviors and health services. All these results lead to poor health outcomes (Asbo, 2018; Clement et al., 2015; Mark L. Hatzenbuehler et al., 2013; Link et al., 1997). Research has found that stress from stigma breaks down social support systems as individuals isolate themselves to avoid rejection (Link et al., 1997). Researchers found a correlation between stigma and depression, and support that internalized stigma is related to higher levels of depression among adolescents with schizophrenia (Asbo, 2018). Other studies found that quality of life decreased with higher levels of stigma and depression (Charles et al., 2012; G. Li et al., 2020). As people may isolate themselves due to depression, engaging less in relationships and social networks that can be coping mechanisms to decrease stress, population health is negatively impacted (Mark L. Hatzenbuehler et al., 2013).

Poor health outcomes are linked to stigma on several levels of the social ecological model (B. A. Pescosolido & Martin, 2015). At the individual level, we see internalized stigma, for example shame around infertility or body weight. At the interpersonal level, stigma manifests in biases and discrimination from individuals towards stigmatized groups seen in slurs or negative treatment towards immigrants for example. At the community and organizational level, stigma is

observed within group norms that are not accepting of LGBTQ+ individuals, and at the structural level stigma is associated with punitive policies and laws such as laws that criminalize same sex marriage or abortion (Mark L. Hatzenbuehler et al., 2013; B. A. Pescosolido & Martin, 2015).

Reviews of stigma research have proposed several mediators between stigma and population health. Stigmatized populations have less access to resources, more social isolation, and greater internalized stigma. They may form maladaptive coping behaviors and have more stress which are all mediators in the link between stigma and poor health outcomes (Mark L. Hatzenbuehler et al., 2013). Stress is dynamic; for example, stress can come from an event such as a derogatory remark or being passed over for a job, or stress can be a chronic state. Importantly, stigma has the potential to affect an individual's resilience, regardless of its length (Chi et al., 2016).

Most studies focus on a single stigmatizing characteristic and one outcome at a specific level of the social ecological model. We know less about the impact of stigma on multiple domains, levels, and outcomes that compound on one another (Mark L. Hatzenbuehler et al., 2013). There is need to address stigma, a social determinate of health, and to begin to alleviate the adverse health outcomes associated with stigma. Like other social determinants of health, interventions are needed to address stigma at all levels of the social ecological model.

Status of Stigma Interventions (HIV and Mental Health)

Interventions to address stigma exist mostly in the context of stigma related to HIV and mental health. Within HIV, research has found stigma is associated with avoidance of HIV testing (Chesney & Smith, 1999), ART adherence (Katz et al., 2013), continued care and poor

mental health (X. Li et al., 2011), quality of life (Arias-Colmenero et al., 2020), health behaviors, and disclosure of HIV status (Vanable, Carey, Blair, & Littlewood, 2006). Each of these spheres are important to the care of people living with HIV, and to lowering HIV transmission rates at the population-level. As the body of evidence has found HIV stigma associated with these different domains of the HIV care continuum, calls for interventions to address HIV stigma have emerged. HIV/AIDS non-profit and non-governmental organizations such as GLAAD, The Elizabeth Taylor AIDS Foundation, and Greater than AIDS all indicate that reducing stigma around HIV is an essential step in initiatives to end the HIV/AIDS epidemic.

Out of this research and community movement, interventions to reduce stigma among people living with HIV and their families were developed and evaluated for effectiveness (Ma, Chan, & Loke, 2019). Other interventions have focused on reducing stigma towards people living with HIV among health care workers (Ekstrand et al., 2020; Ikeda, Nyblade, Srithanaviboonchai, & Agins, 2019). Overall, HIV stigma interventions in published literature have a positive impact on reducing negative attitudes towards people living with HIV (Mak, Mo, Ma, & Lam, 2017).

Mental health is another area that has focused on reducing stigma. Internalized mental health stigma has a strong negative relationship with hope, self-esteem, and empowerment and is positively associated with the severity of psychiatric symptoms (Livingston & Boyd, 2010). Research has found that mental health stigma, including discrimination, has negatively affected access to mental health care and help-seeking behaviors (Clement et al., 2015). Not only does stigma affect individuals seeking care, but it can affect patient engagement in mental health treatment programs (Tsang, Fung, & Chung, 2010). Perceived stigma is also a predictor of discontinuing outpatient depression treatment programs among older patients (Sirey et al., 2001).

Mental health stigma also plays a role in poor healthcare services from health care professionals. An example is diagnostic overshadowing when health-care professionals connect physical complaints from patients to pre-existing mental health issues verses looking for physical health issues ("The health crisis of mental health stigma," 2016).

As with HIV stigma, interventions aiming to reduce internalized stigma regarding mental health conditions have been developed and evaluated and found to have an impact on reducing internalized mental health stigma (Alonso, Guillen, & Munoz, 2019). For example, a peer education intervention for reducing internalized stigma among older depressed adults (Conner, McKinnon, Ward, Reynolds, & Brown, 2015). Other interventions have focused on reducing mental health stigma in medical and nursing students at the interpersonal level. In low and middle-income countries, contact interventions showed the most effect on lowering stigma among health professional students (Heim et al., 2019). At the institutional level, workplace antistigma interventions showed improvement in employee knowledge and behavior towards individuals with mental-illness issues (Hanisch et al., 2016). Large-scale mental health stigma campaigns have suggested social marketing can improve knowledge and attitudes and lower discrimination (Henderson, Evans-Lacko, & Thornicroft, 2013).

Stigma and Sexual and Reproductive Health

The stigma around sexual and reproductive health is cross-cultural and observed across different life stages (Ergin et al., 2018; Farmer et al., 2015; Hall, Manu, et al., 2018; Franz Hanschmidt, Katja Linde, Anja Hilbert, Steffi G. Riedel- Heller, et al., 2016; Makenzius et al., 2019). Examples include stigma found around pregnancy decision in unplanned pregnancy in the U.S. South (women 18-24 years-old) (Rice et al., 2017), prejudice from providers giving

contraceptive counseling to young people (15-24 years-old) in Uganda (Paul, Näsström, Klingberg-Allvin, Kiggundu, & Larsson, 2016), and social stigma among Turkish couples with infertility (men 29-42 years-old and women 26-38 years-old) (Ergin et al., 2018). Often labeled as a women's issue, SRH is shaped by broader social norms around expectations of men and women, and religious teachings about sex and family structure (Lucal, 2005). An example is provided by traditional values in Kenya that define a respectable woman in terms of having and nurturing children in marriage and caring for the home (Izugbara, Ochako, & Izugbara, 2011). SRH stigma varies significantly across regions and can be less obvious but is ever-present. Sexual and reproductive health stigma can include taboo and discrimination associated with the menstrual cycle, the need to prevent unplanned pregnancy, the desire to use contraceptive methods of choice, and, more obviously, obtaining an abortion. As many of these examples show, SRH stigma can impact women's health by creating barriers to needed health services such as contraceptive and abortion counseling.

The need for inclusive SRH services for LGBTQ+ individuals has only recently been acknowledged and increasingly explored within the SRH literature (Hoskin, Blair, & Jenson, 2016; Schmitz, Robinson, & Tabler, 2019; Wingo, Ingraham, & Roberts, 2018). Current research demonstrates discrimination and non-inclusive practices in SRH, especially around client priorities and LGBTQ individuals' fear of discrimination from providers. Research has started to document the experiences and barriers of SRH services to sexual minorities such as experiences among LBQ+ Latina young adults (Schmitz et al., 2019) or LGBTQ individuals (Hoskin et al., 2016). One study found LGBTQ individuals avoid visiting a provider for a sexual health exam because of their sexual and gender identity and anticipate prejudice from providers (Hoskin et al., 2016). Other studies have found that providers lack knowledge of LGBTQ patients' reproductive health needs, and have made discriminatory comments, actions, and assumptions (Wingo et al., 2018). Clinicians in Canada reported feeling unprepared and incompetent to provide sexual health services to LGBTQ youth (Hoskin et al., 2016). Medical students in the U.S. and UK reported lack of LGBTQ health care education and lack of confidence or future intent to clarify sexual and gender identity terms with patients (Hayes, Blondeau, & Bing-You, 2015; Parameshwaran, Cockbain, Hillyard, & Price, 2017). These medical students also expressed not knowing how to assign transgender patients to a male or female ward for care (Hayes et al., 2015; Parameshwaran et al., 2017).

Reducing stigma associated with SRH is essential not just for "women's" health, but population health. While menstruation and pregnancy more directly affect women, STIs, HIV, infertility, and reproductive cancers affect the whole population (Keller & Sonfield, 2019). Stigma that limits or prevents access to health services that provide STI and reproductive cancer screenings affects the population health by preventing the timely treatment of health conditions that may lead to poor health outcomes such as sterility and even death (Keller & Sonfield, 2019). It is important to look at the impacts of SRH stigma on families and adolescents of all genders and conceptualize access to SRH as a human right. Comprehensive sex education for adolescents is an example of an SRH service that impacts population heath and has stigma attached to it in many contexts. Stigma related to SRH can be perceived and internalized by both those in need, those accessing services as well as those providing services (Rebecca J. Cook & Bernard M. Dickens, 2014).

Contraceptive stigma has been found to exist globally. Research has documented social stigma towards adolescent use of contraceptives in Nicaraguan communities (J. J. Parker, Veldhuis, Hughes, & Haider, 2019) and women or girls' use of contraceptives in the southern

Kayonza district of Rwanda (Farmer et al., 2015). The reasoning is often tied to cultural or social norms that adolescents should not be having sex and perceptions that women who use contraceptives are prostitutes (Farmer et al., 2015; J. J. Parker et al., 2019). Unmarried women and adolescents in Kenya also experience stigma from healthcare providers when trying to access contraceptives (Hakansson et al., 2018) and some women and adolescents in the United States have expressed stigma around contraceptive use (James-Hawkins, 2015; L. James-Hawkins & M. Broaddus, 2016; Laurie James-Hawkins & Michelle Broaddus, 2016). Adolescents interviewed in the U.S. had perceptions that parents' disapproval of them having sex was synonymous with their disapproval of using contraceptives (James-Hawkins, 2015). The providers in Kenya expressed beliefs that girls who use contraceptives will be encouraged to be promiscuous (sexually immoral) and will have problems with infertility in the future (Hakansson et al., 2018). These fears of disapproval or labeling by their community create hesitancy in uptake of contraceptives. These examples show that stigma can be a barrier to contraceptive access and use for adolescents and adults in multiple contexts.

Abortion stigma is documented in multiple reviews. Most studies found that women who had an abortion perceived stigma from multiple sources, including society, the community, and in some situations, significant others and medical personnel (Franz Hanschmidt, Linde, Hilbert, Riedel- Heller, & Kersting, 2016). The assignment of stigma to abortion has influenced many women to hide their abortion history. This is especially concerning because covering up stigma is associated with higher levels of stress and mental and physical health issues (Shellenberg, Hessini, & Levandowski, 2014). Abortion stigma is associated with depression and anxiety just before getting an abortion (Steinberg, Tschann, Furgerson, & Harper, 2016). It is important to note that the connections between feelings of depression and anxiety were linked to the stigma

around getting an abortion. The abortion itself is not associated with adverse mental health outcomes (Foster, Steinberg, Roberts, Neuhaus, & Biggs, 2015). Abortion stigma has also been found to discourage and isolate abortion providers (Bommaraju, Kavanaugh, Hou, & Bessett, 2016).

Stigma regarding sexual behaviors such as sex work, sexual orientation, or exposure to a sexually transmitted disease has been associated with delays in seeking or accessing care (Bradford, Reisner, Honnold, & Xavier, 2013; Platt et al., 2018; Tsadik, Lam, & Hadush, 2019). Delays in care or complete avoidance of health care services to avoid stigma can impact poor health outcomes such as increased morbidity, susceptibility to HIV infections, and infertility (L. Lazarus et al., 2012; Lisa Lazarus et al., 2012; Lichtenstein, 2003; Liu, Detels, Li, Ma, & Yin, 2002). Sexual minority youth report higher levels of anxiety and depression and higher rates of unmet mental health needs compared to their peers (Williams & Chapman, 2011). Some research has also found unmet medical need such as access to and utilization of health care among sexual minority women (Everett & Mollborn, 2014). Delays in access and in unmet need are barriers to timely use of healthcare services important for managing good physical and mental health (Ayanian, Weissman, Schneider, Ginsburg, & Zaslavsky, 2000).

Social and internalized stigma are also associated with infertility, affecting both partners in multiple ways (Daibes, Safadi, Athamneh, Anees, & Constantino, 2018; Fu et al., 2015; Rouchou, 2013; Ying, Wu, & Loke, 2015). Women experiencing infertility stigma have been found to have higher levels of depressions and anxiety (Begum & Hasan, 2014; Yilmaz & Kavak, 2019). Additionally, social health risks, marginalization, and social stigma have been found in developing nations around infertility stigma (Dierickx, Rahbari, Longman, Jaiteh, & Coene, 2018; Rouchou, 2013). A study in Nigeria found that infertility was perceived to be "the

worst thing" that could happen to a person among 69% of participants (Umezulike & Efetie, 2004).

While the need for interventions to address stigma related to SRH has emerged, outside of sexual behavior stigma (which if often linked to key populations such as men who have sex with men, sex workers, and transgender individuals for HIV prevention efforts ("WHO Guidelines Approved by the Guidelines Review Committee," 2016)), there is little focus to develop or evaluate interventions comparatively for infertility, contraceptive use or abortion. For example, many interventions to address stigma related to sexual orientation and sex work are developed to address key populations in HIV prevention (Bauermeister et al., 2019; Duby, Fong-Jaen, Nkosi, Brown, & Scheibe, 2019; Geibel et al., 2017; Krishnaratne et al., 2020; Mackenzie, Michels, & Chang, 2019; "WHO Guidelines Approved by the Guidelines Review Committee," 2016). Abortion stigma interventions have seen more attention compared to contraceptives stigma interventions in the literature, but mostly focused on individuals who had an abortion and not on preventing the social stigma connected to abortion that continues to permeate many contexts (F. Hanschmidt, Linde, Hilbert, Riedel-Heller, & Kersting, 2016).

The goal of this review is to highlight what interventions exist and have been evaluated to reduce stigma related to abortion, contraceptive use, infertility, and sexuality (including sexual behavior and sexual identity). The review will exam the effectiveness of current interventions and the regions and populations included in the studies. In addition to drawing attention to existing interventions, this review will provide data to inform where more focus is needed and what populations are engaged or missed by current interventions. This information can inform reproductive health programs, organizations, research, and funders.

Purpose Statement and Research Question

The purpose of this systematic review is to answer the following questions: *What strategies for reducing stigma around sexual and reproductive health within an international context have been evaluated for effectiveness? What distinguished effective versus ineffective strategies for reducing stigma around SRH within an international context? What populations are included in interventions/programs for reducing stigma around SRH within an international context?* For the purposes of this review, SRH topics will be explicitly limited to abortion, contraceptive use, adoption, infertility, and sexuality.

Chapter Three: Methods

This review examined published literature describing interventions to reduce stigma regarding abortion, contraceptives, infertility, and sexuality. The protocol was submitted for registration in the International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews before data collection and followed guidelines from the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis (PRISMA)(Moher, Liberati, Tetzlaff, & Altman, 2009).

Search Strategy

Previous published systematic review protocols that assess abortion stigma and other health-related stigma literature were reviewed to aid in the development of search terms. Additionally, multiple consultations with an information services specialist in the library at the authors' academic institution were completed to refine the search strategy. The four concepts that we developed search terms to identify within relevant articles were: intervention, the SRH topic (abortion, contraceptives, infertility, or sexual behaviors), mitigation, and stigma. The search terms developed for use in PubMed, PsycINFO and CINAHL are available in Appendix B. Searches were completed in the above databases for articles published in English by December 2019. Database searches produced 799 articles in PubMed, 343 in CINAHL, and 889 in PsycINFO. All 2031 references were imported into Covidence ("Covidence systematic review software,") which identified 654 duplicates.

Study Selection

Eligible studies described and assessed interventions with the primary or subsequent goal to reduce stigma regarding contraceptive use, abortion, infertility, or sexuality. Our conceptualization of sexuality encompassed both sexual behavior and identity. Thus, studies that reported on interventions to reduce stigma associated with sexual orientation, having sex, female sex work (FSW) and gender identity were included. Studies with a focus on reducing HIV stigma only were excluded due to the large amount of research already focused on reducing HIV stigma and availability of multiple systematic reviews covering different facets of HIV stigma interventions. Inclusion and exclusion criteria were created with the intent for this systematic review to be more holistic and comprehensive. Thus, we did not exclude articles on the basis of disciplinary boundaries, population focus, study design, and setting. The included studies could have either qualitative, quantitative, or mixed-methods measurement of change in stigma. Studies that only described SRH stigma rather than evaluate interventions to produce change in stigma were not included.

Two authors (Christine Cooper and Janice D'souza) blindly and independently completed the title and abstract screening of the identified 1377 articles remaining after duplicates were removed. A third author (Whitney S. Rice) resolved all conflicts from the title and abstract screening. The title and abstract screening eliminated 1315 articles that did not meet inclusion criteria or met exclusion criteria, mainly articles that were not interventions with an outcome of reducing SRH stigma or only reduced HIV stigma. Prior to full text screening, 62 were eligible for inclusion. Two authors (CC and WSR) independently and blindly completed full text review leaving 46 articles for inclusion in the review. Nine disagreements for inclusion were resolved through discussion between two authors (CC and WSR). These two authors discussed criteria they used for inclusion or exclusion and referenced current research on sexual orientation, gender identity and current definitions of stigma to determine if studies met inclusion criteria. The selection process was completed in Covidence and the PRISMA flow diagram can be found in Figure 1.

Data Abstraction

Two authors (CC and WSR) discussed and agreed on the study characteristics to be collected from the 46 studies included in the systematic review. For each study, the name, author(s), year of publication, stigmatizing behavior (for example internalized binegativity), study design, region, population, sample size, ethics, strategy of stigma intervention (for example, information or contact), level of intervention (for example, individual versus community), time, measurement instruments or evaluation of interventions, outcomes, limitations, and notes were collected. The strategy of stigma intervention identifies the study strategies that were intended to change stigma, for example, contact with stigmatized individuals. The categories for strategy of stigma interventions were: information/education, skill development, counseling/support, contact events, structural (policy), and emotional which were determined before the review from previous research (Stangl, Lloyd, Brady, Holland, & Baral, 2013). In addition, specific target population demographics were recorded if a study provided the data to better analyze populations included in current interventions. Demographics recorded were age, gender identity, sexual orientation, race/ethnicity, education, religion, SES, rural/urban, political party, parenting status, job type/occupation, and relationship status.

Figure 1

PRISMA Flow Diagram



Chapter Four: Results

Study Characteristics

The 46 studies included in the sample were published between 1994 and 2019. The median publication year was 2015 (Table 1). The studies utilized different study designs; the design most commonly used was a non-randomized pre/post questionnaire without control (24%), followed by randomized control trial (20%), literature reviews (13%), non-randomized control trial (11%), mixed methods (9%), cross-sectional (7%), cohort (4%), non-randomized pre/post with control (4%), qualitative (4%), and other (4%). The reviewed studies can be divided into stigma related to pregnancy (n= 9)—which consists of abortion (n=7), contraceptives (n=1), and infertility stigma (n=1)—and stigma related to sexuality (n= 37)—encompassing sexual minority status (n=33), sexual behavior (n=1), female sex work (n=3). Most of the studies took place in North America (65%) and within the United States (57%). Five studies did not specify their geographic location, of which three were reviews.

The study target populations for these interventions can be divided into populations that hold stigmatizing attitudes, such as stigma from providers of health services and teachers, or populations who experience internalized stigma such as shame related to being an FSW or having a sexual minority status. The majority of the studies in the review focused on changing attitudes, beliefs, and prejudice among those who hold stigmatizing SRH attitudes (46%) while a third of the studies focused on reducing internalized stigma (33%). The sample sizes ranged from 5 to 21,075 with a median of 112. Most of the studies had sample sizes under 150 (64%), and almost a quarter had samples from 151-900. There were four studies with large samples between 901-10,000 and 2 population-level studies with samples of over 10,000.

Table 1

Study Level Description

Median Publication Year (Range)	2015	(1994-2019)
Study Design	Total (n=46)	%
Cohort	2	4
Non-randomized control Trial	5	11
Cross-sectional	3	7
Mixed methods	4	9
Non-randomized pre/post with control	2	4
Non-randomized pre/post without control	11	24
Other	2	4
Qualitative	2	4
Randomized control trial	9	20
Review	6	13
Stigma topic	Total (n=46)	%
Abortion	7	15
Contraceptives	1	2
Infertility	1	2
FSW	3	7
LGBT/MSM/sexual minorities	33	72
Pre-marital sex	1	2
Region	Total (n=46)	%
North America	30	65
Canada	4	9
U.S. total	26	57
US (non-specific)	6	13
Across U.S. regions	5	11
Mid-Atlantic	1	2

Midwest	2	4
Northeast	3	7
Pacific Northwest	2	4
Southeast	3	7
Southwest	2	4
West	2	4
Africa	1	2
Central America	1	2
Europe	2	4
Multi-country	2	4
South America	2	4
South Asia	3	7
Did not specify	5	11
Target Population	Total (n=46)	%
Holders of stigmatizing attitudes		
Community	20	43
Providers	7	15
Teachers	2	4
Stigmatized individuals	15	33
Multiple	2	4
Sample Size		
Range	5-21075	
Median	112	
	Total (n=46)	%
(1-49)	13	32
(50-150)	13	32
(151-900)	9	22
(901-10,000)	4	10
10,000+	2	5

Intervention Characteristics

There were nine different types of stigma intervention strategies identified. The most common was a combination approach (30% of studies), which consisted of multiple strategies for stigma reduction. For example, Geibel et al. 2016 combined the use of information and skill development to reduce stigma from healthcare providers towards young, marginalized people in Bangladesh, and Eke et al. 2019 used peer support and skill-building to increase comfort with being gay, social diffusion of safer sex messages, social support, and social norms regarding safer sex practices. The other common stigma interventions were educational or information based (22%) strategies only, followed by counseling and support strategies (15%), contact (11%), skill development (9%), emotional (4%), spiritual (4%), policy (2%) and behavior change communication strategies (2%), see Table 2. Our sample identified a new strategy for stigma intervention that Stangl et al. 2013 had not in spiritual interventions. The intervention level of focus was mainly individual (46%), followed by multi-level approaches (41%). Of the multi-level approaches, most (n=13) were focused on the individual and interpersonal levels.

Most of the interventions employed a one-time presentation or training that lasted threehours or less (41%) and one-third required multiple sessions of four or more hours, such as a 16hour abortion stigma reduction intervention, which took place over a weekend or for two-hours per week over eight-weeks (Layer et al. 2004). One study met monthly for a year or more to lower abortion stigma (Cockrill and Biggs 2018). Five of the programs were interventions with structural changes or community level interventions that did not specify the duration of exposure to the intervention from their sample. One study (Arístegui et al. 2017) focused on stigma reduction produced by change in law and had focus groups a year after the law was signed. The
other four monitored program activities or campaigns that happened daily. These programs were ongoing for 1-5 years such as a behavior change communication (Banerjee et al. 2013) or were community-level interventions (Benoit et al. 2017). The remaining six studies were reviews and none compared length of intervention in studies included in the literature review. Of the 40 studies that were not literature reviews, 36 had no long-term follow-up and four followed up after 3-months or longer to measure sustainability of the intervention. Pachankis and Goldfried (2010) measured after three-months, Bauermeister et al. (2018) re-measured at three, six and 12-months, Geibel at al. (2016) at six-months, and Martin et al. (2014) after one year.

The tools used in the interventions to measure changes in stigma varied. We found that 65% of the studies used validated scales or tools from previous research. Some studies were evaluating interventions at higher levels of the socio-ecological level (community, organizational, or structural) and accordingly used population-level surveys for evaluation, such as Burk et al. 2018. Two studies used qualitative research methods solely, and two studies created new questionnaire tools in their assessment. Three studies used mixed methods evaluation approaches involving qualitative data and questionnaires. There were six reviews included in the sample. Of the reviews, only two looked at study efficacy while the remaining four did not address this.

Table 2

Type of Stigma Intervention	Total (n=46)	%
Behavior change communication	1	2
Contact	5	11
Counseling/Support	7	15
Educational/Information	10	22

Intervention Level Characteristics

Emotional	2	4
Policy	1	2
Skill development	4	9
Spiritual	2	4
Combination	14	30

Intervention Level	Total (n=46)	%
Individual	21	46
Interpersonal	1	2
Organizational	1	2
Community	3	7
Structural/Public policy	1	2
Multi-level	19	41
Individual + interpersonal	11	24
Individual + community	1	2
Individual + interpersonal + organizational	1	2
Individual + interpersonal + community	1	2
Individual + organizational + community +		
structural	1	2
Reviews that covered multiple levels	4	9
Time	Total (n=46)	%

Time	Total (n=46)	%	
Single presentation/training (3 hrs. or less)	19	41	
Two + sessions (4 hrs. or more)	15	33	
Program monitoring and evaluation over 1+ year	6	13	
n/a	6	13	
n/a	6	13	

Measurements	Total (n=46)	%
Used validated scales/previous research	29	63
Population-level survey/Impact evaluation	4	9
Qualitative (focus groups or in-depth interviews)	2	4

Created questionnaire for the study	2	4
Mixed (qualitative and questionnaire)	3	7
Review: did not evaluate for quality/efficacy	4	9
Review: evaluated for efficacy	2	4

Populations Included

Reported participant demographics varied across the review sample of 46 studies. Thirtyeight studies included sample demographics and eight did not, five of which were reviews. Thirty-eight reviewed studies provided gender identity characteristics; participants were 64% female, 31% male and 5% Transgender, Queer or Other. Eight studies did not report gender identity characteristics of their sample. Of those eight, five were reviews that did not look at study participant characteristics in any detail. Twenty-six studies provided racial and ethnic demographic data for their sample showing participants were 64% White, 14% Black, 9% Hispanic/Latino(a), 6% Asian, 1% Native American, 2% Multi-racial, 1% Other and 4% missing. The studies that provided racial and ethnic data were mainly based in the US (n=22). Twenty-one of the studies provided data on sexual orientation, including one of the reviews. Among these studies, the population included was 53% heterosexual, 34% non-heterosexual, and 13% missing. Seventy-eight percent of the studies provided some data on the age of participants. Of 23 studies, the mean age was 26.93. Additionally, 16 studies provided more detailed age data, and the population was 17% teenagers (13-18), 49% young adults (18-30), 31% adults (30-60), 2% older adults (60+), and 1% missing. See Table 3 for population-level characteristics. Of note, 10 studies used convenience samples comprised of university students.

Table 3

Population Level Characteristics

Gender Identity	Percent (%)
Female	64
Male	31
Transgender female/male/queer/other	5

Race/Ethnicity	Percent (%)
White	64
Black	14
Hispanic/Latino/a	9
Asian	6
Native American	1
Multi-racial	2
Other	1
Missing	4

Sexual Orientation	Percent (%)
Heterosexual	53
Non-heterosexual	34
Missing	13

Age	Percent (%)
Mean age*	26.93
Teenagers (13-18)	17
Young adults (18-30)	49
Adults (30-60)	31
Older Adults (60+)	2
Missing	1

*of 23 studies that reported mean age

Pregnancy Related Stigma Studies

There are nine studies in the pregnancy-related category, with the majority (78%) focusing on abortion stigma. The abortion stigma studies (n=7) included a review of three interventions (Franz Hanschmidt, Katja Linde, Anja Hilbert, Steffi G. Riedel- Heller, et al., 2016), two of which focused on stigma experienced by providers, and one looked at stigma experienced by women who had an abortion. Among the remaining six abortion stigma studies, four focused on addressing stigma among women who had an abortion (Belfrage, Ortíz Ramírez, & Sorhaindo, 2019; Cockrill & Biggs, 2018; Jaramillo, 2018; Layer, Roberts, Wild, & Walters, 2004), one on community perceptions and knowledge surrounding abortion (Banerjee, Andersen, Warvadekar, & Pearson, 2013) and one on stigma experienced by abortion providers (Martin, Debbink, Hassinger, Youatt, & Harris, 2014). All but one abortion stigma study focused on reducing stigma for individuals versus addressing the public attitudes that created the stigma around abortion. Two of the studies on abortion stigma, by Banerjee et al. 2013 and Belfrage et al. 2009, occurred outside of the United States (India and Mexico) while the remaining five occurred in the U.S. All but the community-level intervention by Banerjee et al 2013, which took place in India, had smaller sample sizes of 18-109 with no controls and limited generalizability. The five abortion stigma interventions at the individual level only included women, and only the Martin et al. (2014) study of provider stigma followed participants up to determine the sustainability of intervention effect.

The single infertility stigma reduction study included 92 women in a controlled clinical trial in Portugal (Galhardo, Cunha, & Pinto-Gouveia, 2013). The intervention to address the stigma around contraceptive use was based in Peru and used a quasi-experimental design with control groups (Caceres, Rosasco, Mandel, & Hearst, 1994). A sample of 1,213 teenage students

from 14 schools were engaged in a multi-level intervention targeting organizational, interpersonal, and individual levels. This was the only study in the pregnancy-related stigma studies to include boys or men with 50.2% female and 49.8% male in the sample. Among the pregnancy related stigma studies, the study designs included randomized control trial (n=1), control trial (n=1), cross-sectional (n=1), mixed methods (n=1), non-randomized pre/post without control (n=3), cohort (n=1), and review (n=1).

Sexuality Related Stigma Studies

Most of the SRH stigma studies were specific to stigma around sexuality (including sexual behaviors and sexual identity). Of the 46 studies identified in total, 37 fell in this category. Overall the studies in this group encompassed interventions at multiple levels of the socio-ecological model and used combined approaches to stigma intervention, such as information-sharing strategies, skills building, and peer support. These studies more comprehensively reported population demographics and had greater utilization of control groups. Three of the studies in this category focused on stigma related to FSW. Each of these studies focused on a different target population related to FSW. One addressed health care provider attitudes and behavior with key populations in South Africa (FSW, MSM, and drug users) (Duby et al., 2019), the second was a structural intervention to address stigma and discrimination from the community towards FSW in south India (Gurnani et al., 2011) and the last was an intervention based in Canada that engaged individuals employed in FSW as peer educators and addressed internalized FSW stigma (Benoit et al., 2017).

The remaining 34 studies address different types of stigma related to sexuality. These remaining studies can be further broken into interventions that that address stigma among

providers or teachers (n=7), interventions to change stigma and discrimination among those that hold stigmatizing attitudes in communities (n=14), interventions to address internalized stigma (n=8), and reviews of sexual minority stigma and prejudice (n=5). The sexuality stigma intervention studies used several study designs including randomized control trials (n=8), control trials (n=5), cross-sectional (n=2), mixed methods (n=3), non-randomized pre/post with control (n=2), non-randomized pre/post without control (n=8), qualitative (n=2), cohort (n=1), other designs (n=2), and reviews (n=5).

All the provider and teacher focused interventions (Bristol, Kostelec, & MacDonald, 2018; Dessel, 2010; Duby et al., 2019; Geibel et al., 2017; Henry, 2017; Hopkins Shah, 2001; Lelutiu-Weinberger & Pachankis, 2017; Pearson, 2003) were designed at the individual and interpersonal-level. These seven studies used mostly a non-randomized pre/post without control design (n=4), followed by cohort (n=1), mixed-methods (n=1), randomized control trial (n=1), and one post-survey.

The largest group of studies were those focused on reducing stigma and discrimination among those who may hold stigmatizing attitudes in communities. Of the 14 studies in this category, ten of the study samples consisted of undergraduate students at either universities in the United States (n=7) (Case & Stewart, 2013; Finken, 2002; Hussey & Bisconti, 2010; Kwon & Hugelshofer, 2012; LaCosse & Plant, 2019; Tompkins, Shields, Hillman, & White, 2015; Walters, 1994), Canada (n=2) (Hodson, Choma, & Costello, 2009; Rye & Meaney, 2009), or Jamaica and Cyprus (n=1) (West, Husnu, & Lipps, 2015). Of these studies with undergraduate samples (n=10) were individual-level interventions (n=8), and combination individual and interpersonal-level interventions (n=2).

The remaining four studies focused on reducing stigma and discrimination among individuals in the community with populations that were not undergraduates. A structural level study evaluated the impact of a gender identity law in Argentina, including changes in stigma and discrimination (Arístegui et al., 2017), and a community-level intervention looked at the impact of a social marketing campaign to reduce homophobia in Milwaukee (Hull et al., 2017). Another study focused on LGBT stigma in teenage Latino communities through a film-based educational intervention in the United States, which can be categorized as a community and individual-level intervention (Ramirez-Valles, Kuhns, & Manjarrez, 2014). And finally, an organizational-level intervention looked at the impact of a media-based school intervention in Canada to lower sexual orientation prejudice among high school students (Burk, Park, & Saewyc, 2018).

There were eight studies focused on reducing internalized stigma or shame among LGBT individuals, including young men who have sex with men (YMSM) or young black men who have sex with men (YBMSM). All occurred in the U.S., and six were individual-level interventions. This sub-set of the studies included three that tested web-based technology tools within larger sample sizes of 238-935. They each had more specific populations of YBMSM (Bauermeister et al., 2019), of cisgender bisexual men and women (Israel et al., 2019) and of young men who have sex with men (Christensen et al., 2013). The remaining three individual-level interventions studies were comprised of acceptance and commitment therapy for self-stigma (Yadavaia & Hayes, 2012), cognitive-behavioral group therapy (Ross, Doctor, Dimito, Kuehl, & Armstrong, 2007), and an expressive writing intervention (Pachankis & Goldfried, 2010). Of the remaining two studies, one focused on trans men who have sex with men and was

an intervention at the individual and interpersonal level (Reisner et al., 2016). The last study in this category was a community-level for YBMSM in the United States (Eke et al., 2019).

Five reviews in the current study sample focused on sexuality-related stigma. These reviews gave context to research focusing on sexual minorities. One identified the lack of evaluated interpersonal level interventions for family-based stigma and discrimination against LGBTQ youth (C. M. Parker et al., 2018). Another focused on transgender stigma and health, by identifying current interventions in this area (White Hughto, Reisner, & Pachankis, 2015). The third discussed the evidence surrounding a relationship between sexual orientation prejudice and gender identity prejudice, and evaluated current studies with a focus on reducing blatant and subtle sexual orientation- and gender identity prejudice (Cramwinckel, van der Toorn, & Scheepers, 2018). A review of interventions to reduce sexual minority stress evaluated the efficacy of interventions at all levels of the socio-ecological model (Chaudoir, Wang, & Pachankis, 2017). The final review was a study-space analysis and meta-analysis of interventions to reduce sexual prejudice (Bartos, Berger, & Hegarty, 2014). A study-space analysis is a rigorous method for identifying where the areas of a research topic are concentrated (including the type of research and populations) or neglected that allows for quantification of studies in a systematic review (Malpass et al., 2008).

The sexuality interventions were also grouped by geographic region. Removing the literature reviews there were 32 studies in total that were sexuality interventions. Of these 32, 30 provided information on the region in which the intervention took place. We divided the regions into North America (Canada and the United States) and those outside North America (South America, Asia, Africa, and Eastern Europe) and then looked at sexuality topics by region. We broadly grouped the stigma topics of the interventions into sexual minority stigma, FSW alone

and MSM, FSW, adolescent sexuality stigma*. We also recorded the income group that each country belonged to, see Table 4.

We found that 24 of the interventions occurred in North America. There were 20 sexual stigma interventions in the United States and three in Canada. In addition, there was one FSW stigma intervention in Canada. Outside of North America there were six sexuality interventions. In Argentina there was a study that analyzed the impact of a new gender identity law on transgender women (Arístegui et al., 2017). There was an intervention to address anti-gay prejudice in Cyprus and Jamaica that utilized imagined contact with a gay man (West et al., 2015) and a LGBT mental health practice training for mental health professionals in Romania (Lelutiu-Weinberger & Pachankis, 2017). There was a large scale multi-level intervention for FSW stigma in India (Gurnani et al., 2011) and two interventions to address provider stigma and discrimination toward HIV key populations of FSW, MSM, and sexually active young people in South Africa (Duby et al., 2019) and Bangladesh (Geibel et al., 2017). A full list of studies and characteristics can be found in Appendix A.

Table 4

Geographic Region by Sexuality Topic

Region	Sexual	FSW	MSM/FSW/	Total	Income Group
	minority	stigma	adolescent		
	stigma		sexuality stigma*		
North America	23	1		24	
Canada	3	1		4	High-income
United States	20			20	High-income
South America,					
Asia, Africa,	3	1	2	6	
Eastern Europe					
Argentina	1			1	Upper-middle-
					income group
Bangladesh			1	1	Lower-middle-
					income group
Cyprus and	1			1	High-income
Jamaica					and Upper-
					middle-income
					group
India		1		1	Lower-middle-
					income group
Romania	1			1	Upper-middle-
					income group
South Africa			1	1	Upper-middle-
					income group

Chapter Five: Discussion, Conclusion, Recommendations

Discussion

This systematic review took a holistic and comprehensive approach to defining "SRH stigma interventions" in order to be inclusive in scope. This perspective comes from extensive research that shows SRH services are important for development and complete health of individuals across age, gender, gender orientation, or sexual orientation groups (Starrs et al., 2018). Additionally, this approach is consistent with the principles set by key SRH stakeholders globally that everyone has a right to SRH services free of stigma and discrimination (Starrs et al., 2018). This definition provided data on 46 different intervention studies and reviews that ranged in study design, target populations, types of interventions, measurements, and populations.

The division of SRH stigma into pregnancy related stigma (contraceptive use, abortion, and infertility) and sexuality (sexual minorities, FSW, and sex related stigma) brought attention to the breadth and depth of existing intervention research. A greater focus on sexual behaviors was suggested by the quantity of sexual behavior stigma studies and reviews relative to pregnancy-related stigma (i.e., four times as many studies). This group of studies used more approaches to address stigma by utilizing more intervention strategies such as contact, skill development, and combination designs that combined several strategies in a program. Looking at the sample, we see the greatest need to develop interventions reducing stigma around infertility, contraceptive use, and pre-marital sex as there has been little focus on these topics. One possible reason there are fewer interventions to address infertility, contraceptive use, and pre-marital sex is these require a focus on gender norms, and specifically on gender-equality, which differs significantly across countries, and few interventions addressing gender equality were identified

in our sample (Blanc, 2001; Htun & Weldon, 2010, 2011; Inhorn & Patrizio, 2015; Razavi & Jenichen, 2010; Starrs et al., 2018; Sternberg & Hubley, 2004).

There were other meaningful distinctions between sexuality and pregnancy related stigma studies. Of the studies focusing on abortion, we found that most addressed abortion stigma at the individual level. While reducing internalized abortion stigma is important, more interventions at higher levels of the socioecological model need to be developed to address social norms. Abortion stigma contributes to unsafe abortions globally, and only one intervention identified in India, Banerjee et al. (2013), addressed community and interpersonal abortion stigma (Franz Hanschmidt, Katja Linde, Anja Hilbert, Steffi G. Riedel- Heller, et al., 2016; Anuradha Kumar et al., 2009; Oginni, Ahmadu, Okwesa, Adejo, & Shekerau, 2018; Starrs et al., 2018). Providerlevel abortion stigma interventions were represented in the U.S., however there is need for interventions targeting providers outside the U.S. In Sub-Saharan Africa and Southeast Asia stigma and negative attitudes toward abortion limit the number of providers willing to do the procedure and women's access to safe abortion (Rehnstrom Loi, Gemzell-Danielsson, Faxelid, & Klingberg-Allvin, 2015; Starrs et al., 2018). The six abortion studies were more descriptive as indicated by the limited use of randomized control trials, fewer control groups, and the smaller sample sizes. The studies concerning sexuality had more studies, diverse study designs, and larger sample sizes overall.

The sexuality stigma studies inclusion of interventions that address stigma at the community, organizational, and structural-level shows a progression beyond internalized stigma and interpersonal relationships to address the different socioecological levels at which individuals will experience stigma and that have a cumulative effect on lives and health (Golden & Earp, 2012; Mark L. Hatzenbuehler et al., 2013). The use of innovative tools such as video

games, online formats, and mobile phones shows the use of digital technology which has potential for promising interventions for SRH stigma (Adhikari & Rijal, 2018; Guse et al., 2012; Ippoliti & L'Engle, 2017; John, Samson-Akpan, Etowa, Akpabio, & John, 2016; L'Engle, Mangone, Parcesepe, Agarwal, & Ippoliti, 2016; Rathbone & Prescott, 2017; Starrs et al., 2018). Several studies in this group also focused on providers showing greater awareness of need to work on attitudes of prejudice in clinical settings to address barriers to healthcare that have been documented in previous research (Hayes et al., 2015; Hoskin et al., 2016; Parameshwaran et al., 2017; Schmitz et al., 2019; Wingo et al., 2018).

More than half of the studies developed interventions on a single socioecological level, for example individual-level interventions, and the majority of multilevel interventions were individual plus interpersonal interventions for teachers and providers. These interventions are important, but we see a predominant focus on interventions at lower levels of the socioecological model. This was not surprising, considering that existing literature suggests that most social and behavioral interventions focus at the individual and interpersonal levels (Golden & Earp, 2012). Only eight studies intervened at the organizational-level or higher, suggesting a need for interventions to be developed beyond individual and interpersonal levels. This is consistent with needs identified in the broader social and behavioral interventions literature, outside of stigma (Golden & Earp, 2012). Higher level interventions could have a greater impact on the sustainability of stigma reduction, as they work to change not just attitudes of individuals but also social norms (Paskett et al., 2016).

A goal of this review was to determine what strategies have been evaluated for reducing SRH stigma. While all the interventions in the review were evaluated on some level, there was a range of rigor and ability to determine effectiveness of interventions. Our review found nine

Page 42

RCTs and five control trials. While often considered the gold standard in research, RCTs are not always the most appropriate or just standard (Grossman & Mackenzie, 2005). Instead, the utility of drawing causal inferences about an intervention may depend on the context, topic, intervention approach, and the background knowledge of casual pathways (Cartwright, 2007). RCTs have value, but also a complicated and inequitable history that is often overlooked, and today, funding for RCTs are often provided to those who have the privilege and access to the infrastructure needed to execute a RCT (Bothwell, Greene, Podolsky, & Jones, 2016; Jones & Podolsky, 2015). The studies could have utilized more mixed methods approaches. SRH stigma is a complex and contextual issue. While pre/post surveys allow us to measure changes in stigma, less was explained in the research of acceptability or social or cultural validity of the intervention (Nastasi & Hitchcock, 2009; Nastasi et al., 2007).

Only four studies measured the sustainability of intervention effects: Pachankis and Goldfried (2010), Bauermeister et al. (2018), Geibel at al. (2016), and Martin et al. (2014). Most studies measured changes at the end of the intervention without long-term follow-up. We cannot fully understand whether interventions produce prolonged change in attitudes or reduction in stigma if we do not know if and for how long the effects last (Nastasi & Hitchcock, 2009). While it is important to address SRH stigma with interventions that work, it is also importance to understand the sustainability of effects on participants, especially with so many focused on the individual and interpersonal level which do little to effect the environment people continue to live (Paskett et al., 2016) or structural stigma (M. L. Hatzenbuehler, 2016). With most programs not focused on structural or community attitude changes, therefore not removing the stressor or influence from the community that perpetuates stigmatizing attitudes, understanding how individuals feel over time in unchanged environments is important for understanding efficacy.

For example, understanding how long an internalized binegativity intervention lasts as that individual continues to hear negative dialogue from society about bisexual individual or how long provider's attitudes and behaviors are changed could be helpful for planning frequency of the intervention or trainings at health centers.

A variety of measurement approaches were represented in the present review. Most studies used at least one validated scale or measure from previous research such as Case and Steward, 2013, Finken 2002, Henry 2017 and, Yadavaia and Hayes, 2012, the lack of use of the same scales across studies makes it harder to compare outcomes. The most commonly used scales were the Positive and Negative Effect Schedule (PANAS) and the Rosenberg Self-esteem scale (RES) used by four studies and three studies respectively. The large number of validated scales used to measure provider attitudes and knowledge, attitudes toward SRH stigma topics, and internalized shame show the quality of research that is available in the North American context to describe and measure SRH stigma. Validated scales created in North America have been successfully adapted to new contexts in Latin America, Nigeria and Turkey (Cetinkaya, Ozmen, Uyar, & Tayhan, 2019; Oginni et al., 2018; Paz, Mascialino, Proano, & Evans, 2020). The continued use of validated scales for a specific context will be important to further comparison across studies and create best practices (implementation science) (Bauer, Damschroder, Hagedorn, Smith, & Kilbourne, 2015). With clear need for interventions, having evidence-based strategies is important for both funding of projects and ensuring resources are going towards impactful programs and can be adapted to new contexts (Bauer et al., 2015).

A second goal of this review was to examine patterns in the regions represented within the reviewed intervention studies. Most of the interventions were in the U.S. (57%) and North America (65%). The studies identified outside of the U.S. were in Canada, Mexico, Peru,

Argentina, Portugal, Romania, India, Bangladesh, and South Africa. This shows a need to develop interventions in South America, Europe, Asia, and Africa. These interventions will need to build on current research that has identified SRH stigma in a specific region and potentially complete formative research to better understand the context (Balfe, Brugha, O'Donovan, O'Connell, & Vaughan, 2010; Cousineau & Domar, 2007; Makenzius et al., 2019; Rehnstrom Loi et al., 2015; Starrs et al., 2018). The interventions that need to be developed outside of North America must take into consideration the specific context that is influenced by culture, religion, politics, migration to cities, traditional practices, and other influencing factors. For example, abortion stigma is present in Ireland (M. Balfe et al., 2010), Sub-Saharan Africa, and Southeast Asia (Rehnstrom Loi et al., 2015), but for very different reasons. For example, in Ireland the stigma has been influences by the Catholic church (Bloomer, Pierson, & Claudio, 2019), and in Southeast Asia stigma is influenced by beliefs around fetal spirithood (Cohen, 2012; Oaks, 1994). Therefore, in each region and context the interventions will be informed by different sources of stigma that must be addressed in an effective intervention.

Most of the research in the U.S. encompassed abortion stigma and sexual minority stigma. There were no interventions to address stigma around contraceptive use, infertility, or sex work in a U.S. context. The only intervention to address infertility identified was in Portugal and the one intervention to address stigma around contraceptive use was in Peru (Caceres et al., 1994; Galhardo et al., 2013). There was also one intervention in Bangladesh to address provider attitudes serving young, unmarried individuals in need of SRH services (Geibel et al., 2017). This pattern suggests that, even within the United States where the bulk of the intervention studies exist, there is more work that needs to be done around infertility, contraceptive use, and sex work, all of which have documented stigma in the U.S. (James-Hawkins, 2015; Laurie James-Hawkins & Michelle Broaddus, 2016; Koken, 2012; Koken, Bimbi, Parsons, & Halkitis, 2004; Noone & Young, 2009; Whiteford & Gonzalez, 1995; R. L. Wright, Fawson, Frost, & Turok, 2017)

This review sought to synthesize information about the populations included in and excluded from current SRH interventions. The population level data extracted showed several trends. There were a lot of college student samples, often convenience samples with self-selection bias and generalizability issues, among interventions to address prejudice and discrimination towards sexual minorities (11 of 32). As pilot studies the necessity to use such convenience samples is understandable, especially when determining if a strategy could be associated with a desired outcome.

The diversity of samples is also of note. Young people, individuals that are white, and women were most represented. This review found no studies or intervention that included men in infertility or abortion stigma. However, abortion stigma affects men as both partners of women who have had an abortion and providers who perceive, internalize, endorse, and perpetuate abortion stigma (Hakansson et al., 2018; Franz Hanschmidt, Katja Linde, Anja Hilbert, Steffi G. Riedel- Heller, et al., 2016; Norris et al., 2011; Starrs et al., 2018). The same is true of infertility, men experience, internalize, endorse, and perpetuate infertility stigma (Inhorn & Patrizio, 2015; Rouchou, 2013; Starrs et al., 2018). Current research of abortion and infertility stigma appears to only ask individuals if they are male or female, and experiences of individuals who don't identify with those gender binaries does not appear to be known, and this is likely a place for future research to explore. Many of the minority populations were included in interventions that focused only on one population group such as Latino teenagers or young black men who have sex with men. These have benefits of creating interventions that are specific for a population

(Agurs-Collins et al., 2019; Lau, 2006; Okamoto, Kulis, Marsiglia, Steiker, & Dustman, 2014) that address more specific barriers minority populations face (Cooper, Hill, & Powe, 2002; Hwang, 2009), but should not be the only way diversity is addressed.

The population data from the reviewed studies suggest the need for stigma interventions that include men, are more diverse in race and ethnicity, target older adults and teenagers, and include populations outside of North America. All but one study that took place outside the U.S. did not provide demographic data on race and ethnicity, and the studies based outside the U.S. also provided less overall detail regarding the populations included. One potential reason for this could be that several of the studies that took place in such settings used population level data with sampling techniques to be representative of the population, and therefore, there was not a need to collect detailed demographic data (Barreiro & Albandoz, 2001; Omair, 2014). Another potential reason is there may be cultural differences with collecting demographic data especially around race and ethnicity. Countries collect racial, ethnic, and tribal data in different ways or potentially not at all based on policies and differences in definitions (Simon, 2012; Simon & Piché, 2012).

Our data showed that almost all the sexuality studies occurred in North America in a high-income context. This is problematic for several reasons. We do not currently have interventions to address stigma around sexuality in many of the places with the highest levels of stigma (*Human Rights Watch Country Profiles: Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity*, September 23, 2019). Additionally, interventions developed in the U.S. and Canada cannot simply be translated to other contexts, especially middle and low-income contexts. One reason is psychological studies frequently have shown considerable differences in result when conducted with American versus non-American participants (Henrich, Heine, & Norenzayan, 2013).

Additionally, sexuality and gender norms are contingent and contextual to culture and therefore the stigma associated with is as well (Epprecht, 2012; Oyèrónké Oyěwùmí, 1997; Bernice A. Pescosolido et al., 2008). For example, current definitions of LGBTQ+ are centered around a western context and not relatable or even desired by individuals living outside of this context (Epprecht, 2012; Seckinelgin, 2009). Additionally, current interventions in the U.S. are barely addressing the intersectionality of stigmatizing identities of individual's in the context they are designed for, and would not have the ability to address this in other places (Mark L. Hatzenbuehler et al., 2013; Oyèrónké Oyěwùmí, 2001).

Countries outside of the U.S. have their own history and culture for explaining sexuality that influences their beliefs and actions around sexual behaviors. These beliefs are influenced by religion, colonialism, and language among other things (Htun, 2009; Oyèrónké Oyěwùmí, 1997). Additionally, these cultures are not static, but change and adapt to current needs (Nyanzi, Nassimbwa, Kayizzi, & Kabanda, 2008; Underwood, 1999). There is necessity to design interventions specifically for a context, and our data shows there is a conspicuous need for interventions to address sexuality stigma in both non-North American contexts and low and middle-income contexts. Instead of exporting interventions that create a default western sexual construct, work needs to be done to understand how sexuality exists in each system and develop specific interventions (Epprecht, 2012; Seckinelgin, 2009). This work can best be done and should be done by and with the individuals and communities that these interventions will target (Roundtable on the Promotion of Health, the Elimination of Health, Board on Population, Public Health, & Institute of, 2013).

Only a few studies mentioned that SRH stigma were influenced by a specific context and religion. Interestingly, in the seven studies that provide some of the context in the background,

five were outside the U.S. (South Africa, India, Bangladesh, and Peru). The two in the U.S. were spiritual based abortion stigma interventions, Layer et al. (2004) and Jaramillo (2018). These were the only two interventions to directly work within a specific set of religious views and use a spiritual strategy. Given the connection between abortion stigma and religiosity in the U.S. it surprising that more interventions did not address the influence and affect religious beliefs and values have on abortion stigma (Frohwirth, Coleman, & Moore, 2018). The other five, Belfrage et al. (2019), Caceres et al. (1994), Duby et al. (2019), Geibel et al. (2016), and Banerjee et al. (2013) had varying levels expressed of incorporation of cultural context and religion's influence on norms that created stigma around SRH topics. Given the impact in some regions of religious beliefs and values on SRH stigma this seems like a large blind spot in current literature.

Limitations and Strengths

A limitation of this review is the search was completed for studies published and written in English. This could have excluded studies written in other languages or valuable grey literature, however the study team did not have the capacity for translation at the time that the review was completed. It is likely there are more interventions than identified that have not been evaluated or created within the context of academia or shared in peer-reviewed journals and therefore were beyond the scope of the review criteria. This systematic review was broader in scope and chose more liberal inclusion criteria, such as inclusion of literature reviews, to better capture what interventions exist. This broadness makes clear comparison between studies included more difficult. Despite these weaknesses, we believe this systematic review can be used as a tool to easily identify peer-reviewed interventions for future research and practice. The consolidation of 46 studies provides researchers with data of what interventions and what

contexts have been evaluated and what worked. Additionally, having this much research in one place can benefit practitioners by creating a resource for reference of evaluated stigma interventions. We hope this will be a tool and push stigma interventions forward.

Conclusions

We found that the SRH stigma interventions represented in the literature over the last 26 years largely focus on sexuality stigma reduction in North America and less so contraceptive use, infertility, and abortion stigma intervention. Multi-level interventions that combine several strategies to reduce stigma were rare, with a few examples including one around sex work stigma reduction. More interventions that incorporate these multi-level approaches and integrate several types of intervention that have shown promise are needed. Additionally, the results of this review point to opportunities for SRH stigma intervention work in less studied pregnancy-related stigma areas and areas outside of North America and high-income countries.

Public Health Implications

In addition to the recommendations identified above, we want to highlight several here. More SRH stigma intervention research is needed to develop interventions for several regions. No interventions for FSWs, contraceptives, or infertility in the U.S., Asia, and Africa were represented in the present review. While formative research has found SRH stigma across these regions (Alhassan, Ziblim, & Muntaka, 2014; Daibes et al., 2018; Farmer et al., 2015; Fu et al., 2015; Gbagbo & Nkrumah, 2019; Jansen & Onge, 2015; Whiteford & Gonzalez, 1995; Yilmaz & Kavak, 2019), there is need to take the next step and begin developing culturally and

structurally relevant interventions on these topics. Interventions for infertility and contraceptive stigma were the least represented topic of intervention focus in our review. As mentioned above there is need for contraceptive stigma interventions globally (Starrs et al., 2018) and for infertility stigma interventions across genders, considering that these stigmas affect men and women, although women experience the brunt of the effect of stigma (Dyer, Lombard, & Van der Spuy, 2009; Inhorn & Patrizio, 2015; Starrs et al., 2018).

In addition, while many interventions for sexuality stigma were identified, most took place in the U.S. There is need to develop interventions to address sexuality stigma in contexts outside of the U.S (Lamontagne et al., 2018; Scheim et al., 2019; Starrs et al., 2018). Sexual minorities have specific SRH needs and issues such as a higher burden of STIs and depression compared to the general population, combined with increased barriers including prejudice from providers (Blondeel et al., 2016; Institute of Medicine Committee on Lesbian, Transgender Health, Research, & Opportunities, 2011; Nagata, 2018; Scheim et al., 2019; Starrs et al., 2018) Special considerations need to be taken for sexuality stigma internationally (Starrs et al., 2018), especially in contexts that have laws or policies that outlaw or punish same sex relationships (Hagopian, Rao, Katz, Sanford, & Barnhart, 2017; Tadele & Amde, 2019). Gender identity and sexual orientation acceptance or rejection looks very different internationally based on the culture and context that has helped define sexuality (Epprecht, 2012; Seckinelgin, 2009; T. Wright, 2000). Individuals living in contexts outside of the U.S. may be less likely to identify with LGBTQ+ labels (Epprecht, 2012; Seckinelgin, 2009; T. Wright, 2000). Therefore, formative research specific to such contexts is important to the development of interventions. Additionally, the work should be done by and with the individuals and communities that these interventions will be developed for (Roundtable on the Promotion of Health et al., 2013).

As new interventions are developed and evaluated, steps should be taken to address the weaknesses identified in this review to provide needed evidence-based programs and practices (Melnyk et al.). For example, self-selection bias and convenience samples should be limited to increase internal validity and generalizability of studies (Porta, 2008). This could help draw attention and funding towards needed stigma interventions by providing additional evidence-based programs and practices (Melnyk et al.; Metz & Albers, 2014). While the use of RCTs could help with internal validity (Melnyk et al.), the complexity of stigma and many ways that people experience stigma make mixed methods approaches helpful for understanding the issues and a better fit (Halcomb & Hickman, 2015). Additionally, mixed methods could provide needed data on acceptability or social or cultural validity of the intervention (Nastasi et al., 2007; Wisdom & Creswell).

Future interventions development should consider making plans to measure intervention effects over time. Understanding how long interventions lower stigma allows us to better understand their effectiveness and plan for the future (Jorm, 2020; Mehta et al., 2015; Thornicroft et al., 2016). For example, how often a training to lower SRH stigma should happen for health providers or teachers. Additionally, there could be value in evaluating interventions over time for other reasons. Stigma and the social norms that are a part of developing stigma happen over time and can shift (Clair, Daniel, & Lamont, 2016). These shifts can be towards destigmatization or not based on many factors that influence social norms including changes in perceptions of what separates stigmatized individuals at "others" (Clair et al., 2016; Schomerus & Angermeyer, 2017). Additionally, overt discrimination may simply become subtle as structural changes are imposed (Clair et al., 2016) or as a reduction in stigmatization may not affect attitudes toward that same group (Angermeyer, Matschinger, Carta, & Schomerus, 2014). Interventions that are evaluated over time can be useful for measuring these shifts if they happen. SRH stigma has developed over time in complex ways, understanding intervention effects over time could give us more insight into how to change these ingrained views.

More diverse samples should be included in future SRH stigma interventions (Allmark, 2004; Konkel, 2015). Targeted studies for minorities will help to address specific needs of minorities (Escribà-Agüir, Rodríguez-Gómez, & Ruiz-Pérez, 2016), but efforts should also be made in recruitment of more minorities into samples (Konkel, 2015; Lau, 2006). Stronger partnerships with minority organizations and inclusion in research could help (Bediako & Griffith, 2008; Roussos & Fawcett, 2000; Scott, Bray, & McLemore, 2020). Funding research from minority communities could also provide healthy avenues (Ruffin & Flagg-Newton, 2001). An example in the U.S. would be funding for historically black colleges and universities that already have the perspective and understanding of black Americans as a member of that community and the academic structure that research is completed (Ruffin & Flagg-Newton, 2001; Treadwell, Braithwaite, Braithwaite, Oliver, & Holliday, 2009). This may require leadership development and addressing other barriers including bias in funding (Ruffin & Flagg-Newton, 2001; Shavers et al., 2005; Treadwell et al., 2009).

Our final recommendation is for future research to focus on stigma as a social determinant of population health (Mark L. Hatzenbuehler et al., 2013) and as such, interventions should utilize multilevel interventions to improve population health (Agurs-Collins et al., 2019; Paskett et al., 2016), especially at the organizational, community and structural level (Golden & Earp, 2012). Stigma does not affect people on only one level of the social ecological model and often one stigmatizing identity or behavior intersects with another and the effect can be compounded (M. L. Hatzenbuehler, 2016). Additionally, people do not live in vacuums, but

dynamic environments that may hold social norms or structures that enforce SRH stigma. These social norms will be unique to each region and interventions should be developed to address the local, contextual etiology for SRH stigma. This should include addressing underlying norms related to religious beliefs that contribute to SRH stigma that seemed to be overlooked in our sample. This will also require complex evaluation of several outcomes to understand impact of these multilevel interventions. Evaluations will need to be designed to capture how the interaction of variables at multiple levels affects outcomes to determine impact, and mixed methods approaches are likely the most appropriate (Nastasi & Hitchcock, 2009). Ultimately, addressing stigma through multilevel interventions (Paskett et al., 2016) in these higher levels of the social ecologic model is needed to prevent stigma and create better environments for positive health outcomes (Agurs-Collins et al., 2019; Golden & Earp, 2012; M. L. Hatzenbuehler, 2016).

References

- Adhikari, T. B., & Rijal, A. (2018). E-mental health—An untapped opportunity in Nepal. *Asian Journal of Psychiatry*, 38, 25-26. doi:10.1016/j.ajp.2018.10.021
- Agurs-Collins, T., Persky, S., Paskett, E. D., Barkin, S. L., Meissner, H. I., Nansel, T. R., . . .
 Farhat, T. (2019). Designing and Assessing Multilevel Interventions to Improve Minority Health and Reduce Health Disparities. *American Journal of Public Health*, *109*(S1), S86-S93. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2018.304730
- Ahanonu, E. L. (2014). Attitudes of Healthcare Providers towards Providing Contraceptives for Unmarried Adolescents in Ibadan, Nigeria. *J Family Reprod Health*, 8(1), 33-40.
- Alhassan, A., Ziblim, A. R., & Muntaka, S. (2014). A survey on depression among infertile women in Ghana. *BMC Womens Health*, *14*(1), 42. doi:10.1186/1472-6874-14-42
- Allmark, P. (2004). Should research samples reflect the diversity of the population? *Journal of medical ethics*, *30*(2), 185-189. doi:10.1136/jme.2003.004374
- Alonso, M., Guillen, A. I., & Munoz, M. (2019). Interventions to Reduce Internalized Stigma in individuals with Mental Illness: A Systematic Review. *Span J Psychol, 22*, E27. doi:10.1017/sjp.2019.9
- Angermeyer, M. C., Matschinger, H., Carta, M. G., & Schomerus, G. (2014). Changes in the perception of mental illness stigma in Germany over the last two decades. *European Psychiatry*, 29(6), 390-395. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpsy.2013.10.004</u>
- Arias-Colmenero, T., Perez-Morente, M. A., Ramos-Morcillo, A. J., Capilla-Diaz, C., Ruzafa-Martinez, M., & Hueso-Montoro, C. (2020). Experiences and Attitudes of People with HIV/AIDS: A Systematic Review of Qualitative Studies. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, 17(2). doi:10.3390/ijerph17020639

- Arístegui, I., Radusky, P. D., Zalazar, V., Romero, M., Schwartz, J., & Sued, O. (2017). Impact of the gender identity law in Argentinean transgender women. *International Journal of Transgenderism*, 18(4), 446-456. doi:10.1080/15532739.2017.1314796
- Artiga, S., & Hinton, E. (May 10, 2018). Beyond Health Care: The Role of Social Determinants in Promoting Health and Health Equity. *Disparities Policy*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.kff.org/disparities-policy/issue-brief/beyond-health-care-the-role-of-socialdeterminants-in-promoting-health-and-health-equity/</u>
- Asbo, G. (2018). The impact of internalized stigma and depression on quality of life in adolescents and young adults with schizophrenia. (79). ProQuest Information & Learning, Retrieved from https://login.proxy.library.emory.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct= true&db=psyh&AN=2018-09134-153&site=ehost-live&scope=site} Available from EBSCOhost psyh database.
- Ayanian, J. Z., Weissman, J. S., Schneider, E. C., Ginsburg, J. A., & Zaslavsky, A. M. (2000). Unmet Health Needs of Uninsured Adults in the United States. *Jama, 284*(16), 2061-2069. doi:10.1001/jama.284.16.2061
- Balfe, M., Brugha, R., O'Connell, E., McGee, H., O'Donovan, D., & Vaughan, D. (2010). Why don't young women go for Chlamydia testing? A qualitative study employing Goffman's stigma framework. *Health, Risk & Society, 12*(2), 131-148. doi:10.1080/13698571003632437
- Balfe, M., Brugha, R., O'Donovan, D., O'Connell, E., & Vaughan, D. (2010). Young women's decisions to accept chlamydia screening: influences of stigma and doctor-patient interactions. *BMC Public Health*, 10, 425. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-10-425

- Banerjee, S. K., Andersen, K. L., Warvadekar, J., & Pearson, E. (2013). Effectiveness of a behavior change communication intervention to improve knowledge and perceptions about abortion in Bihar and Jharkhand, India. *Int Perspect Sex Reprod Health*, 39(3), 142-151. doi:10.1363/3914213
- Barreiro, P. L., & Albandoz, J. P. (2001). Population and sample. Sampling techniques. In (pp. 18). <u>https://www.humanities.mn/fileman/Uploads/MD_handbook/sampling_en.pdf</u>:
 Management Mathematics for European Schools.
- Bartos, S. E., Berger, I., & Hegarty, P. (2014). Interventions to reduce sexual prejudice: a study-space analysis and meta-analytic review. *J Sex Res*, *51*(4), 363-382.
 doi:10.1080/00224499.2013.871625
- Bauer, M. S., Damschroder, L., Hagedorn, H., Smith, J., & Kilbourne, A. M. (2015). An introduction to implementation science for the non-specialist. *BMC psychology*, 3(1), 32-32. doi:10.1186/s40359-015-0089-9
- Bauermeister, J. A., Muessig, K. E., LeGrand, S., Flores, D. D., Choi, S. K., Dong, W., . . .
 Hightow-Weidman, L. B. (2019). HIV and Sexuality Stigma Reduction Through
 Engagement in Online Forums: Results from the HealthMPowerment Intervention. *AIDS Behav*, 23(3), 742-752. doi:10.1007/s10461-018-2256-5
- Bearak, J., Popinchalk, A., Alkema, L., & Sedgh, G. (2018). Global, regional, and subregional trends in unintended pregnancy and its outcomes from 1990 to 2014: estimates from a Bayesian hierarchical model. *Lancet Glob Health*, 6(4), e380-e389. doi:10.1016/s2214-109x(18)30029-9

- Bediako, S. M., & Griffith, D. M. (2008). Eliminating Racial/Ethnic Health Disparities:
 Reconsidering Comparative Approaches. *Journal of Health Disparities Research and Practice*, 2(1). Retrieved from https://digitalscholarship.unlv.edu/jhdrp/vol2/iss1/5
- Begum, B. N., & Hasan, S. (2014). Psychological problems among women with infertility problem: a comparative study. *J Pak Med Assoc, 64*(11), 1287-1291.
- Belfrage, M., Ortíz Ramírez, O., & Sorhaindo, A. (2019). Story Circles and abortion stigma in Mexico: a mixed-methods evaluation of a new intervention for reducing individual level abortion stigma. *Culture, Health & Sexuality*, 1-16. doi:10.1080/13691058.2019.1577493
- Benoit, C., Belle-Isle, L., Smith, M., Phillips, R., Shumka, L., Atchison, C., . . . Flagg, J. (2017).
 Sex workers as peer health advocates: community empowerment and transformative learning through a Canadian pilot program. *Int J Equity Health, 16*(1), 160. doi:10.1186/s12939-017-0655-2
- Blanc, A. K. (2001). The effect of power in sexual relationships on sexual and reproductive health: an examination of the evidence. *Stud Fam Plann*, 32(3), 189-213. doi:10.1111/j.1728-4465.2001.00189.x
- Blondeel, K., Say, L., Chou, D., Toskin, I., Khosla, R., Scolaro, E., & Temmerman, M. (2016).
 Evidence and knowledge gaps on the disease burden in sexual and gender minorities: a review of systematic reviews. *Int J Equity Health*, *15*, 16. doi:10.1186/s12939-016-0304-1
- Bloomer, F., Pierson, C., & Claudio, S. E. (2019). Abortion discourses
- religion, culture, nation. In *Reimagining global abortion politics* (1 ed., pp. 51-68): Bristol University Press.

- Bommaraju, A., Kavanaugh, M. L., Hou, M. Y., & Bessett, D. (2016). Situating stigma in stratified reproduction: Abortion stigma and miscarriage stigma as barriers to reproductive healthcare. *Sexual & Reproductive Healthcare, 10*, 62-69. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.srhc.2016.10.008
- Bothwell, L. E., Greene, J. A., Podolsky, S. H., & Jones, D. S. (2016). Assessing the Gold
 Standard--Lessons from the History of RCTs. *N Engl J Med*, *374*(22), 2175-2181.
 doi:10.1056/NEJMms1604593
- Boyer, J. (2018). A Time to Lead: A Roadmap for Progress on Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights Worldwide. Retrieved from
- Bradford, J., Reisner, S. L., Honnold, J. A., & Xavier, J. (2013). Experiences of transgenderrelated discrimination and implications for health: results from the Virginia Transgender Health Initiative Study. *American Journal of Public Health*, *103*(10), 1820-1829. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2012.300796
- Bristol, S., Kostelec, T., & MacDonald, R. (2018). Improving Emergency Health Care Workers' Knowledge, Competency, and Attitudes Toward Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Patients Through Interdisciplinary Cultural Competency Training. *JEN: Journal of Emergency Nursing*, 44(6), 632-639. doi:10.1016/j.jen.2018.03.013
- Burk, J., Park, M., & Saewyc, E. M. (2018). A Media-Based School Intervention to Reduce Sexual Orientation Prejudice and Its Relationship to Discrimination, Bullying, and the Mental Health of Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual Adolescents in Western Canada: A Population-Based Evaluation. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, 15(11). doi:10.3390/ijerph15112447

- Caceres, C. F., Rosasco, A. M., Mandel, J. S., & Hearst, N. (1994). Evaluating a school-based intervention for STD/AIDS prevention in Peru. *J Adolesc Health*, 15(7), 582-591. doi:10.1016/1054-139x(94)90143-q
- Cartwright, N. (2007). Are RCTs the Gold Standard? *BioSocieties*, 2(1), 11-20. doi:10.1017/S1745855207005029

Case, K. A., & Stewart, B. (2013). Intervention effectiveness in reducing prejudice against transsexuals. *Journal of LGBT Youth*, 10(1-2), 140-158. doi:10.1080/19361653.2012.718549

- Cetinkaya, A., Ozmen, D., Uyar, F., & Tayhan, A. (2019). Reliability and validity of the Turkish version of the Individual-Level Abortion Stigma Scale: a methodological study. *BMJ Open*, 9(4), e024686. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2018-024686
- Charles, B., Jeyaseelan, L., Pandian, A. K., Sam, A. E., Thenmozhi, M., & Jayaseelan, V.
 (2012). Association between stigma, depression and quality of life of people living with HIV/AIDS (PLHA) in South India a community based cross sectional study. *BMC Public Health*, *12*(1), 463. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-12-463
- Chaudoir, S. R., Wang, K., & Pachankis, J. E. (2017). What reduces sexual minority stress? A review of the intervention 'toolkit'. *Journal of Social Issues*, 73(3), 586-617. doi:10.1111/josi.12233
- Chesney, M. A., & Smith, A. W. (1999). Critical Delays in HIV Testing and Care: The Potential Role of Stigma. *American Behavioral Scientist*, *42*(7), 1162-1174. doi:10.1177/00027649921954822

- Chi, P., Li, X., Du, H., Tam, C. C., Zhao, J., & Zhao, G. (2016). Does stigmatization wear down resilience? A longitudinal study among children affected by parental HIV. *Personality* and Individual Differences, 96, 159-163. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.03.001</u>
- Christensen, J. L., Miller, L. C., Appleby, P. R., Corsbie-Massay, C., Godoy, C. G., Marsella, S. C., & Read, S. J. (2013). Reducing shame in a game that predicts HIV risk reduction for young adult MSM: a randomized trial delivered nationally over the Web. *J Int AIDS Soc*, *16*(3 Suppl 2), 18716. doi:10.7448/ias.16.3.18716
- Clair, M., Daniel, C., & Lamont, M. (2016). Destigmatization and health: Cultural constructions and the long-term reduction of stigma. *Social Science & Medicine*, *165*, 223-232.
 doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.03.021</u>
- Cleland, J., Harbison, S., & Shah, I. H. (2014). Unmet Need for Contraception: Issues and Challenges. *Stud Fam Plann*, *45*(2), 105-122. doi:10.1111/j.1728-4465.2014.00380.x
- Clement, S., Schauman, O., Graham, T., Maggioni, F., Evans-Lacko, S., Bezborodovs, N., . . . Thornicroft, G. (2015). What is the impact of mental health-related stigma on helpseeking? A systematic review of quantitative and qualitative studies. *Psychol Med*, 45(1), 11-27. doi:10.1017/s0033291714000129
- Cockrill, K., & Biggs, A. (2018). Can stories reduce abortion stigma? Findings from a longitudinal cohort study. *Culture, Health & Sexuality, 20*(3), 335-350. doi:10.1080/13691058.2017.1346202
- Cohen, E. (2012). Fetuses in a Thai Buddhist Temple as Chaotic Irruption and Public Embarrassment. *Asian Anthropology*, *11*(1), 1-20. doi:10.1080/1683478X.2012.10600851

Conner, K. O., McKinnon, S. A., Ward, C. J., Reynolds, C. F., III, & Brown, C. (2015). Peer education as a strategy for reducing internalized stigma among depressed older adults. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal, 38*(2), 186-193. doi:10.1037/prj0000109

Constitution of Kenya, Article 45(2) C.F.R. (2010).

Cook, R. J., & Dickens, B. M. (2014). Reducing stigma in reproductive health. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics*, 125(1), 89-92.

doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgo.2014.01.002</u>

- Cook, R. J., & Dickens, B. M. (2014). Reducing stigma in reproductive health. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet, 125*(1), 89-92. doi:10.1016/j.ijgo.2014.01.002
- Cooper, L. A., Hill, M. N., & Powe, N. R. (2002). Designing and evaluating interventions to eliminate racial and ethnic disparities in health care. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 17(6), 477-486. doi:10.1046/j.1525-1497.2002.10633.x
- Cousineau, T. M., & Domar, A. D. (2007). Psychological impact of infertility. *Best Practice & Research: Clinical Obstetrics & Gynaecology, 21*(2), 293-308. Retrieved from https://login.proxy.library.emory.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct= true&db=cin20&AN=106182996&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- . Covidence systematic review software. Melbourne, Australia: Veritas Health Innovation. Retrieved from <u>www.covidence.org</u>
- Cramwinckel, F. M., van der Toorn, J., & Scheepers, D. T. (2018). Interventions to reduce blatant and subtle Sexual Orientation- and Gender Identity Prejudice (SOGIP): Current knowledge and future directions. *Social Issues and Policy Review*, *12*(1), 183-217. doi:10.1111/sipr.12044

Cui, W. (2010). Mother or nothing: the agony of infertility. 88(12), 881-882. doi:10.2471

- Daibes, M. A., Safadi, R. R., Athamneh, T., Anees, I. F., & Constantino, R. E. (2018). 'Half a woman, half a man; that is how they make me feel': a qualitative study of rural Jordanian women's experience of infertility. *Cult Health Sex, 20*(5), 516-530. doi:10.1080/13691058.2017.1359672
- Dessel, A. B. (2010). Effects of intergroup dialogue: Public school teachers and sexual orientation prejudice. *Small Group Research*, *41*(5), 556-592.
 doi:10.1177/1046496410369560
- Dierickx, S., Rahbari, L., Longman, C., Jaiteh, F., & Coene, G. (2018). 'I am always crying on the inside': a qualitative study on the implications of infertility on women's lives in urban Gambia. *Reprod Health*, 15(1), 151. doi:10.1186/s12978-018-0596-2
- Dimka, R. A., & Dein, S. L. (2013). The Work of a Woman is to give Birth to Children: Cultural Constructions of Infertility in Nigeria. *African Journal of Reproductive Health / La Revue Africaine de la Santé Reproductive, 17*(2), 102-117. Retrieved from <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/23485925</u>
- Do Sexual Minorities Receive Appropriate Sexual and Reproductive Health Care and Counseling? (2019). *Journal of Women's Health*, 28(1), 53-62. doi:10.1089/jwh.2017.6866
- Duby, Z., Fong-Jaen, F., Nkosi, B., Brown, B., & Scheibe, A. (2019). 'We must treat them like all the other people': Evaluating the Integrated Key Populations Sensitivity Training Programme for Healthcare Workers in South Africa. *South Afr J HIV Med*, 20(1), 909. doi:10.4102/sajhivmed.v20i1.909
- Dyer, S., Lombard, C., & Van der Spuy, Z. (2009). Psychological distress among men suffering from couple infertility in South Africa: a quantitative assessment. *Hum Reprod*, 24(11), 2821-2826. doi:10.1093/humrep/dep278

- Eke, A. N., Johnson, W. D., O'Leary, A., Rebchook, G. M., Huebner, D. M., Peterson, J. L., & Kegeles, S. M. (2019). Effect of a Community-Level HIV Prevention Intervention on Psychosocial Determinants of HIV Risk Behaviors among Young Black Men Who Have Sex with Men (YBMSM). *AIDS Behav, 23*(9), 2361-2374. doi:10.1007/s10461-019-02499-4
- Ekstrand, M. L., Raj, T., Heylen, E., Nyblade, L., Devdass, D., Pereira, M., . . . Srinivasan, K.
 (2020). Reducing HIV stigma among healthcare providers in India using a partly tabletadministered intervention: the DriSti trial. *AIDS Care*, 1-9.
 doi:10.1080/09540121.2020.1739221
- Epprecht, M. (2012). Sexual minorities, human rights and public health strategies in Africa. *Afr Aff (Lond)*, *111*(443), 223-243. doi:10.1093/afraf/ads019
- Ergin, R. N., Polat, A., Kars, B., Oztekin, D., Sofuoglu, K., & Caliskan, E. (2018). Social stigma and familial attitudes related to infertility. *Turk J Obstet Gynecol*, *15*(1), 46-49. doi:10.4274/tjod.04307
- Escribà-Agüir, V., Rodríguez-Gómez, M., & Ruiz-Pérez, I. (2016). Effectiveness of patienttargeted interventions to promote cancer screening among ethnic minorities: A systematic review. *Cancer Epidemiology*, *44*, 22-39. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canep.2016.07.009
- Everett, B. G., & Mollborn, S. (2014). Examining Sexual Orientation Disparities in Unmet
 Medical Needs Among Men and Women. *Population Research and Policy Review*, 33(4), 553-577. doi:10.1007/s11113-013-9282-9
- Farmer, D. B., Berman, L., Ryan, G., Habumugisha, L., Basinga, P., Nutt, C., . . . Rich, M. L.(2015). Motivations and Constraints to Family Planning: A Qualitative Study in
Rwanda's Southern Kayonza District. *Global Health: Science and Practice, 3*(2), 242-254. doi:10.9745/ghsp-d-14-00198

- Finken, L. L. (2002). The impact of a human sexuality course on anti-gay prejudice: The challenge of reaching male students. *Journal of Psychology & Human Sexuality*, 14(1), 37-46. doi:10.1300/J056v14n01_03
- Foster, D. G., Steinberg, J. R., Roberts, S. C., Neuhaus, J., & Biggs, M. A. (2015). A comparison of depression and anxiety symptom trajectories between women who had an abortion and women denied one. *Psychol Med*, 45(10), 2073-2082. doi:10.1017/s0033291714003213
- Freedman, L., Landy, U., Darney, P., & Steinauer, J. (2010). Obstacles to the integration of abortion into obstetrics and gynecology practice. *Perspect Sex Reprod Health*, 42(3), 146-151. doi:10.1363/4214610
- Friedman, M. R., Wei, C., Klem, M. L., Silvestre, A. J., Markovic, N., & Stall, R. (2014). HIV
 Infection and Sexual Risk among Men Who Have Sex with Men and Women (MSMW):
 A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *PLoS One*, 9(1), e87139.
 doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0087139
- Frohwirth, L., Coleman, M., & Moore, A. M. (2018). Managing Religion and Morality Within the Abortion Experience: Qualitative Interviews With Women Obtaining Abortions in the U.S. World Medical & Health Policy, 10(4), 381-400. doi:10.1002/wmh3.289

Frost, D. M. (2011). Social stigma and its consequences for the socially stigmatized. Social and Personality Psychology Compass, 5(11), 824-839. doi:10.1111/j.1751-9004.2011.00394.x

- Fu, B., Qin, N., Cheng, L., Tang, G., Cao, Y., Yan, C., . . . Lei, J. (2015). Development and validation of an Infertility Stigma Scale for Chinese women. *J Psychosom Res*, 79(1), 69-75. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychores.2014.11.014
- Galhardo, A., Cunha, M., & Pinto-Gouveia, J. (2013). Mindfulness-Based Program for Infertility: efficacy study. *Fertil Steril*, 100(4), 1059-1067. doi:10.1016/j.fertnstert.2013.05.036
- Ganatra, B., Gerdts, C., Rossier, C., Johnson, B. R., Jr., Tuncalp, O., Assifi, A., . . . Alkema, L. (2017). Global, regional, and subregional classification of abortions by safety, 2010-14: estimates from a Bayesian hierarchical model. *Lancet, 390*(10110), 2372-2381. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(17)31794-4
- Garg, S., & Anand, T. (2015). Menstruation related myths in India: strategies for combating it. Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care, 4(2), 184-186. doi:10.4103/2249-4863.154627
- Gbagbo, F. Y., & Nkrumah, J. (2019). Family planning among undergraduate university students: a CASE study of a public university in Ghana. *BMC Womens Health*, 19(1), 12. doi:10.1186/s12905-019-0708-3
- Geibel, S., Hossain, S. M., Pulerwitz, J., Sultana, N., Hossain, T., Roy, S., . . . Yam, E. (2017).
 Stigma Reduction Training Improves Healthcare Provider Attitudes Toward, and
 Experiences of, Young Marginalized People in Bangladesh. *J Adolesc Health*, 60(2s2),
 S35-s44. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.09.026
- Goffman, E. (1963). *Stigma; notes on the management of spoiled identity*: Englewood Cliffs, N.J. : Prentice-Hall, [1963].

- Golden, S. D., & Earp, J. A. (2012). Social ecological approaches to individuals and their contexts: twenty years of health education & behavior health promotion interventions. *Health Educ Behav, 39*(3), 364-372. doi:10.1177/1090198111418634
- Grossman, J., & Mackenzie, F. J. (2005). The randomized controlled trial: gold standard, or merely standard? *Perspect Biol Med*, *48*(4), 516-534. doi:10.1353/pbm.2005.0092
- Gurnani, V., Beattie, T. S., Bhattacharjee, P., Mohan, H. L., Maddur, S., Washington, R., ...
 Blanchard, J. F. (2011). An integrated structural intervention to reduce vulnerability to
 HIV and sexually transmitted infections among female sex workers in Karnataka state,
 south India. *BMC Public Health*, 11, 755. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-11-755
- Guse, K., Levine, D., Martins, S., Lira, A., Gaarde, J., Westmorland, W., & Gilliam, M. (2012).
 Interventions using new digital media to improve adolescent sexual health: a systematic review. *J Adolesc Health*, *51*(6), 535-543. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2012.03.014
- Hagopian, A., Rao, D., Katz, A., Sanford, S., & Barnhart, S. (2017). Anti-homosexual legislation and HIV-related stigma in African nations: what has been the role of PEPFAR? *Glob Health Action*, 10(1), 1306391. doi:10.1080/16549716.2017.1306391
- Hakansson, M., Oguttu, M., Gemzell-Danielsson, K., & Makenzius, M. (2018). Human rights versus societal norms: a mixed methods study among healthcare providers on social stigma related to adolescent abortion and contraceptive use in Kisumu, Kenya. *BMJ Glob Health*, *3*(2), e000608. doi:10.1136/bmjgh-2017-000608
- Halcomb, E., & Hickman, L. (2015). Mixed methods research. *Nurs Stand*, *29*(32), 41-47. doi:10.7748/ns.29.32.41.e8858
- Hall, K. S., Manu, A., Morhe, E., Harris, L. H., Loll, D., Ela, E., . . . Dalton, V. K. (2018).Development and Validation of a Scale to Measure Adolescent Sexual and Reproductive

Health Stigma: Results From Young Women in Ghana. *J Sex Res*, *55*(1), 60-72. doi:10.1080/00224499.2017.1292493

- Hall, K. S., Morhe, E., Manu, A., Harris, L. H., Ela, E., Loll, D., . . . Dalton, V. K. (2018).
 Factors associated with sexual and reproductive health stigma among adolescent girls in Ghana. *PLoS One*, *13*(4), e0195163. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0195163
- Hanisch, S. E., Twomey, C. D., Szeto, A. C. H., Birner, U. W., Nowak, D., & Sabariego, C.
 (2016). The effectiveness of interventions targeting the stigma of mental illness at the workplace: a systematic review. *BMC Psychiatry*, 16(1), 1. doi:10.1186/s12888-015-0706-4
- Hanschmidt, F., Linde, K., Hilbert, A., Riedel- Heller, S. G., & Kersting, A. (2016). Abortion
 Stigma: A Systematic Review. *Perspect Sex Reprod Health*, 48(4), 169-177.
 doi:10.1363/48e8516
- Hanschmidt, F., Linde, K., Hilbert, A., Riedel-Heller, S. G., & Kersting, A. (2016). Abortion
 Stigma: A Systematic Review. *Perspect Sex Reprod Health*, 48(4), 169-177.
 doi:10.1363/48e8516
- Hanschmidt, F., Linde, K., Hilbert, A., Riedel- Heller, S. G., & Kersting, A. (2016). Abortion
 Stigma: A Systematic Review. *Perspectives on Sexual & Reproductive Health*, 48(4), 169-177. doi:10.1363/48e8516
- Hatzenbuehler, M. L. (2016). Structural stigma: Research evidence and implications for psychological science. *Am Psychol*, *71*(8), 742-751. doi:10.1037/amp0000068
- Hatzenbuehler, M. L., Phelan, J. C., & Link, B. G. (2013). Stigma as a fundamental cause of population health inequalities. *American Journal of Public Health*, *103*(5), 813-821. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2012.301069

- Hayes, V., Blondeau, W., & Bing-You, R. G. (2015). Assessment of Medical Student and Resident/Fellow Knowledge, Comfort, and Training With Sexual History Taking in LGBTQ Patients. *Fam Med*, 47(5), 383-387.
- The health crisis of mental health stigma. (2016). *Lancet*, *387*(10023), 1027. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(16)00687-5
- Heim, E., Henderson, C., Kohrt, B. A., Koschorke, M., Milenova, M., & Thornicroft, G. (2019).
 Reducing mental health-related stigma among medical and nursing students in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review. *Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci, 29*, e28. doi:10.1017/s2045796019000167
- Henderson, C., Evans-Lacko, S., & Thornicroft, G. (2013). Mental Illness Stigma, Help Seeking, and Public Health Programs. *American Journal of Public Health*, *103*(5), 777-780.
 doi:10.2105/ajph.2012.301056
- Henrich, J., Heine, S. J., & Norenzayan, A. (2013). The weirdest people in the world? In S. M.
 Downes & E. Machery (Eds.), *Arguing about human nature: Contemporary debates*. (pp. 198-216). New York, NY: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Henry, A. (2017). Educational Program to Improve Provider Knowledge, Attitudes, and Behavior in Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Self-Disclosure. *Journal of Doctoral Nursing Practice, 10*(1), 65-70. doi:10.1891/2380-9418.10.1.65
- Herek, G. M., Gillis, J. R., & Cogan, J. C. (2015). Internalized stigma among sexual minority adults: Insights from a social psychological perspective. *Stigma and Health*, 1(S), 18-34. doi:10.1037/2376-6972.1.S.18
- 10.1037/2376-6972.1.S.18.supp (Supplemental)

- Hodson, G., Choma, B. L., & Costello, K. (2009). Experiencing alien-nation: Effects of a simulation intervention on attitudes toward homosexuals. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 45(4), 974-978. doi:10.1016/j.jesp.2009.02.010
- Hopkins Shah, H. R. (2001). Fighting intolerance based on sexual orientation in schools: Teachers' perceived impact of the professional development training component of the support services for sexual minority youth program in the San Francisco Unified School District (California). (62). ProQuest Information & Learning, Retrieved from <u>https://login.proxy.library.emory.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=</u> <u>true&db=psyh&AN=2001-95018-294&site=ehost-live&scope=site</u> Available from EBSCOhost psyh database.
- Horga, M., Gerdts, C., & Potts, M. (2013). The remarkable story of Romanian women's struggle to manage their fertility. *J Fam Plann Reprod Health Care, 39*(1), 2-4. doi:10.1136/jfprhc-2012-100498
- Hoskin, R. A., Blair, K. L., & Jenson, K. E. (2016). Dignity versus diagnosis: Sexual orientation and gender identity differences in reports of one's greatest concern about receiving a sexual health exam. *Psychology & Sexuality*, 7(4), 279-293. doi:10.1080/19419899.2016.1236745
- Htun, M. (2009). Life, Liberty, and Family Values
- Church and State in the Struggle over Latin America's Social Agenda. In F. Hagopian (Ed.),
 Religious Pluralism, Democracy, and the Catholic Church in Latin America (pp. 335-364): University of Notre Dame Press.

- Htun, M., & Weldon, S. L. (2010). When Do Governments Promote Women's Rights? A
 Framework for the Comparative Analysis of Sex Equality Policy. *Perspectives on Politics*, 8(1), 207-216. Retrieved from <u>www.jstor.org/stable/25698527</u>
- Htun, M., & Weldon, S. L. (2011). State Power, Religion, and Women's Rights: A Comparative Analysis of Family Law. *Indiana Journal of Global Legal Studies*, 18(1), 145-165. doi:10.2979/indjglolegstu.18.1.145
- Hull, S. J., Davis, C. R., Hollander, G., Gasiorowicz, M., Jeffries, W. L. I. V., Gray, S., . . .
 Mohr, A. (2017). Evaluation of the Acceptance Journeys social marketing campaign to reduce homophobia. *American Journal of Public Health*, *107*(1), 173-179. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2016.303528
- Human Rights Watch Country Profiles: Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity. (September 23, 2019). Retrieved from https://www.hrw.org/video-photos/interactive/2019/09/23/sexual-orientation-gender-identity-country-profiles
- Hussein, J., & Ferguson, L. (2019). Eliminating stigma and discrimination in sexual and reproductive health care: a public health imperative. *Sex Reprod Health Matters*, 27(3), 1-5. doi:10.1080/26410397.2019.1697103
- Hussey, H. D., & Bisconti, T. L. (2010). Interventions to Reduce Sexual Minority Stigma in Sororities. *Journal of Homosexuality*, *57*(4), 566-587. doi:10.1080/00918361003609184
- Hwang, W. C. (2009). The Formative Method for Adapting Psychotherapy (FMAP): A community-based developmental approach to culturally adapting therapy. *Prof Psychol Res Pr, 40*(4), 369-377. doi:10.1037/a0016240

- Ikeda, D. J., Nyblade, L., Srithanaviboonchai, K., & Agins, B. D. (2019). A quality improvement approach to the reduction of HIV-related stigma and discrimination in healthcare settings. *BMJ Glob Health*, 4(3), e001587. doi:10.1136/bmjgh-2019-001587
- Inhorn, M. C., & Patrizio, P. (2015). Infertility around the globe: new thinking on gender, reproductive technologies and global movements in the 21st century. *Hum Reprod Update, 21*(4), 411-426. doi:10.1093/humupd/dmv016
- Institute of Medicine Committee on Lesbian, G. B., Transgender Health, I., Research, G., &
 Opportunities. (2011). The National Academies Collection: Reports funded by National
 Institutes of Health. In *The Health of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender People: Building a Foundation for Better Understanding*. Washington (DC): National Academies
 Press (US)
- National Academy of Sciences.
- Ippoliti, N. B., & L'Engle, K. (2017). Meet us on the phone: mobile phone programs for adolescent sexual and reproductive health in low-to-middle income countries. *Reprod Health*, 14(1), 11. doi:10.1186/s12978-016-0276-z
- Israel, T., Choi, A. Y., Goodman, J. A., Matsuno, E., Lin, Y.-J., Kary, K. G., & Merrill, C. R. S. (2019). Reducing internalized binegativity: Development and efficacy of an online intervention. *Psychology of Sexual Orientation and Gender Diversity*, 6(2), 149-159. doi:10.1037/sgd0000314
- Izugbara, C. O., Ochako, R., & Izugbara, C. (2011). Gender scripts and unwanted pregnancy among urban Kenyan women. *Culture, Health & Sexuality, 13*(9), 1031-1045. Retrieved from www.jstor.org/stable/23047509

- Jackson-Best, F., & Edwards, N. (2018). Stigma and intersectionality: a systematic review of systematic reviews across HIV/AIDS, mental illness, and physical disability. *BMC Public Health*, 18(1), 919. doi:10.1186/s12889-018-5861-3
- James-Hawkins, L. (2015). The longitudinal influence of the psychosocial context: Sexuality and contraceptive use in the transition to adulthood. (PhD). University of Colorado, Boulder, Sociology Graduate Theses & Dissertations. Retrieved from

https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/b8ce/0a6d93d7338f2271f60714a66e89f75a8225.pdf (46)

- James-Hawkins, L., & Broaddus, M. (2016). The Association of Attitudes about Contraceptives with Contraceptive Use in a Random Sample of Colorado Women. *Soc Sci J*, 53(2), 167-173. doi:10.1016/j.soscij.2016.03.001
- James-Hawkins, L., & Broaddus, M. (2016). The association of attitudes about contraceptives with contraceptive use in a random sample of Colorado women. *The Social Science Journal*, 53(2), 167-173. doi:10.1016/j.soscij.2016.03.001
- Jansen, N. A., & Onge, J. M. S. (2015). An internet forum analysis of stigma power perceptions among women seeking fertility treatment in the United States. *Social Science & Medicine*, 147, 184-189. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.11.002
- Jaramillo, S. (2018). *Mending broken lives: Post-abortion healing*. (78). ProQuest Information & Learning, Retrieved from

https://login.proxy.library.emory.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct= true&db=psyh&AN=2017-33536-128&site=ehost-live&scope=site Available from EBSCOhost psyh database.

- John, M. E., Samson-Akpan, P. E., Etowa, J. B., Akpabio, I. I., & John, E. E. (2016). Enhancing self-care, adjustment and engagement through mobile phones in youth with HIV. *International Nursing Review*, 63(4), 555-561. doi:10.1111/inr.12313
- Jones, D. S., & Podolsky, S. H. (2015). The history and fate of the gold standard. *Lancet*, *385*(9977), 1502-1503. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(15)60742-5
- Jorm, A. F. (2020). Effect of Contact-Based Interventions on Stigma and Discrimination: A Critical Examination of the Evidence. *Psychiatr Serv*, appips201900587. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.201900587
- Katz, I. T., Ryu, A. E., Onuegbu, A. G., Psaros, C., Weiser, S. D., Bangsberg, D. R., & Tsai, A.
 C. (2013). Impact of HIV-related stigma on treatment adherence: systematic review and meta-synthesis. *J Int AIDS Soc, 16*(3 Suppl 2), 18640. doi:10.7448/ias.16.3.18640
- Keller, L. H., & Sonfield, A. (2019). More to Be Done: Individuals' Needs for Sexual and Reproductive Health Coverage and Care. *Guttmacher Policy Review*, 22.
- Koken, J. A. (2012). Independent female escort's strategies for coping with sex work related stigma. *Sexuality & Culture: An Interdisciplinary Quarterly, 16*(3), 209-229. doi:10.1007/s12119-011-9120-3
- Koken, J. A., Bimbi, D. S., Parsons, J. T., & Halkitis, P. N. (2004). The Experience of Stigma in the Lives of Male Internet Escorts. *Journal of Psychology & Human Sexuality*, 16(1), 13-32. doi:10.1300/J056v16n01_02
- Konkel, L. (2015). Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Research Studies: The Challenge of Creating More Diverse Cohorts. *Environmental health perspectives*, *123*(12), A297-A302. doi:10.1289/ehp.123-A297

- Krishnaratne, S., Bond, V., Stangl, A., Pliakas, T., Mathema, H., Lilleston, P., . . . Hargreaves, J.
 R. (2020). Stigma and Judgment Toward People Living with HIV and Key Population
 Groups Among Three Cadres of Health Workers in South Africa and Zambia: Analysis
 of Data from the HPTN 071 (PopART) Trial. *AIDS Patient Care STDS*, *34*(1), 38-50.
 doi:10.1089/apc.2019.0131
- Kumar, A., Hessini, L., & Mitchell, E. M. (2009). Conceptualising abortion stigma. *Cult Health* Sex, 11(6), 625-639. doi:10.1080/13691050902842741
- Kumar, A., Hessini, L., & Mitchell, E. M. H. (2009). Conceptualising abortion stigma. *Culture, Health & Sexuality*, 11(6), 625-639. doi:10.1080/13691050902842741
- Kwon, P., & Hugelshofer, D. S. (2012). Lesbian, gay, and bisexual speaker panels lead to attitude change among heterosexual college students. *Journal of Gay & Lesbian Social Services: The Quarterly Journal of Community & Clinical Practice, 24*(1), 62-79. doi:10.1080/10538720.2012.643285
- L'Engle, K. L., Mangone, E. R., Parcesepe, A. M., Agarwal, S., & Ippoliti, N. B. (2016). Mobile Phone Interventions for Adolescent Sexual and Reproductive Health: A Systematic Review. *Pediatrics*, *138*(3). doi:10.1542/peds.2016-0884
- LaCosse, J., & Plant, E. A. (2019). Imagined contact with famous gay men and lesbians reduces heterosexuals' misidentification concerns and sexual prejudice. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 49(1), 141-156. doi:10.1002/ejsp.2391
- Lamontagne, E., d'Elbee, M., Ross, M. W., Carroll, A., Plessis, A. D., & Loures, L. (2018). A socioecological measurement of homophobia for all countries and its public health impact. *Eur J Public Health*, 28(5), 967-972. doi:10.1093/eurpub/cky023

- Latt, S. M., Milner, A., & Kavanagh, A. (2019). Abortion laws reform may reduce maternal mortality: an ecological study in 162 countries. *BMC Womens Health*, 19(1), 1. doi:10.1186/s12905-018-0705-y
- Lau, A. S. (2006). Making the Case for Selective and Directed Cultural Adaptations of Evidence-Based Treatments: Examples From Parent Training. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 13(4), 295-310. doi:10.1111/j.1468-2850.2006.00042.x
- Layer, S. D., Roberts, C., Wild, K., & Walters, J. (2004). Postabortion Grief: Evaluating the Possible Efficacy of a Spiritual Group Intervention. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 14(5), 344-350. doi:10.1177/1049731504265829
- Lazarus, L., Deering, K. N., Nabess, R., Gibson, K., Tyndall, M. W., & Shannon, K. (2012).
 Occupational stigma as a primary barrier to health care for street-based sex workers in
 Canada. *Cult Health Sex, 14*(2), 139-150. doi:10.1080/13691058.2011.628411
- Lazarus, L., Deering, K. N., Nabess, R., Gibson, K., Tyndall, M. W., & Shannon, K. (2012).
 Occupational stigma as a primary barrier to health care for street-based sex workers in Canada. *Culture, Health & Sexuality, 14*(2), 139-150.

doi:10.1080/13691058.2011.628411

- Lelutiu-Weinberger, C., & Pachankis, J. E. (2017). Acceptability and preliminary efficacy of a lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender-affirmative mental health practice training in a highly stigmatizing national context. *LGBT Health*, *4*(5), 360-370. doi:10.1089/lgbt.2016.0194
- Li, G., Wang, G., Hsu, F. C., Xu, J., Pei, X., Zhao, B., & Shetty, A. (2020). Effects of Depression, Anxiety, Stigma, and Disclosure on Health-Related Quality of Life among

Chronic Hepatitis B Patients in Dalian, China. *Am J Trop Med Hyg*. doi:10.4269/ajtmh.19-0007

- Li, X., Huang, L., Wang, H., Fennie, K. P., He, G., & Williams, A. B. (2011). Stigma Mediates the Relationship Between Self-Efficacy, Medication Adherence, and Quality of Life Among People Living with HIV/AIDS in China. *AIDS Patient Care and STDs*, 25(11), 665-671. doi:10.1089/apc.2011.0174
- Lichtenstein, B. (2003). Stigma as a barrier to treatment of sexually transmitted infection in the American deep south: issues of race, gender and poverty. *Social Science & Medicine*, *57*(12), 2435-2445. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2003.08.002
- Lindberg, C., Lewis-Spruill, C., & Crownover, R. (2006). Barriers to sexual and reproductive health care: urban male adolescents speak out. *Issues Compr Pediatr Nurs, 29*(2), 73-88. doi:10.1080/01460860600677577
- Link, B. G., & Phelan, J. C. (2001). Conceptualizing Stigma. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 27, 363-385. Retrieved from <u>http://www.jstor.org.proxy.library.emory.edu/stable/2678626</u>
- Link, B. G., Struening, E. L., Rahav, M., Phelan, J. C., & Nuttbrock, L. (1997). On stigma and its consequences: Evidence from a longitudinal study of men with dual diagnoses of mental illness and substance abuse. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 38(2), 177-190. doi:10.2307/2955424
- Liu, H., Detels, R., Li, X., Ma, E., & Yin, Y. (2002). Stigma, delayed treatment, and spousal notification among male patients with sexually transmitted disease in China. *Sex Transm Dis*, 29(6), 335-343. doi:10.1097/00007435-200206000-00005

- Livingston, J. D., & Boyd, J. E. (2010). Correlates and consequences of internalized stigma for people living with mental illness: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Soc Sci Med*, 71(12), 2150-2161. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.09.030
- Lucal, B. (2005). [The Sociology of Gender: An Introduction to Theory and Research, Amy S. Wharton]. *Teaching Sociology, 33*(2), 221-222. Retrieved from www.jstor.org/stable/4127527
- Ma, P. H. X., Chan, Z. C. Y., & Loke, A. Y. (2019). Self-Stigma Reduction Interventions for People Living with HIV/AIDS and Their Families: A Systematic Review. *AIDS Behav*, 23(3), 707-741. doi:10.1007/s10461-018-2304-1
- Mackenzie, S., Michels, C., & Chang, J. (2019). Structures of Sexuality: Sexual Stigma,
 Disclosure, and HIV Risk with Primary Female Partners Among Behaviorally Bisexual
 Black Men. Arch Sex Behav. doi:10.1007/s10508-019-1463-0
- Mak, W. W. S., Mo, P. K. H., Ma, G. Y. K., & Lam, M. Y. Y. (2017). Meta-analysis and systematic review of studies on the effectiveness of HIV stigma reduction programs. *Soc Sci Med*, 188, 30-40. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.06.045
- Makenzius, M., McKinney, G., Oguttu, M., & Romild, U. (2019). Stigma related to contraceptive use and abortion in Kenya: scale development and validation. *Reprod Health*, 16(1), 136. doi:10.1186/s12978-019-0799-1
- Malpass, R. S., Tredoux, C., Compo, N. S., McQuiston-Surrett, D., MacLin, O. H., Zimmerman,
 L. A., & A Topp, L. D. (2008). *Study Space Analysis: A New Method For Describing And Evaluating Research Literatures.*
- Martin, L. A., Debbink, M., Hassinger, J., Youatt, E., Eagen-Torkko, M., & Harris, L. H. (2014). Measuring Stigma Among Abortion Providers: Assessing the Abortion Provider Stigma

Survey Instrument. *Women & Health, 54*(7), 641-661. doi:10.1080/03630242.2014.919981

- Martin, L. A., Debbink, M., Hassinger, J., Youatt, E., & Harris, L. H. (2014). Abortion providers, stigma and professional quality of life. *Contraception*, 90(6), 581-587. doi:10.1016/j.contraception.2014.07.011
- Mehta, N., Clement, S., Marcus, E., Stona, A. C., Bezborodovs, N., Evans-Lacko, S., . . .
 Thornicroft, G. (2015). Evidence for effective interventions to reduce mental health-related stigma and discrimination in the medium and long term: systematic review. *Br J Psychiatry*, 207(5), 377-384. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.114.151944
- Melnyk, B. M., Morrison-Beedy, D., Melnyk, B. M., Morrison-Beedy, D., Melnyk, B. M.,
 Fleury, J., . . . Tucker, S. *Intervention Research and Evidence-Based Quality Improvement* (2 ed.). New York: Springer Publishing Company.
- Metz, A., & Albers, B. (2014). What Does It Take? How Federal Initiatives Can Support the Implementation of Evidence-Based Programs to Improve Outcomes for Adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 54(3, Supplement), S92-S96.

doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2013.11.025</u>

- Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J., & Altman, D. G. (2009). Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *PLoS medicine*, 6(7), e1000097. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097
- Nagata, J. M. (2018). Challenges, health implications, and advocacy opportunities for lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender global health providers. *Glob Health Promot, 25*(3), 70-73. doi:10.1177/1757975916677504

- Nastasi, B. K., & Hitchcock, J. (2009). Challenges of Evaluating Multilevel Interventions. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, *43*(3-4), 360-376. doi:10.1007/s10464-009-9239-7
- Nastasi, B. K., Hitchcock, J., Sarkar, S., Burkholder, G., Varjas, K., & Jayasena, A. (2007).
 Mixed Methods in Intervention Research: Theory to Adaptation. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 1(2), 164-182. doi:10.1177/1558689806298181
- Nations, U. (2014). International Conference on Population and Development Programme of Action (20th Anniversary ed., pp. 296).
- Noone, J., & Young, H. M. (2009). Preparing daughters: The context of rurality on mothers' role in contraception. *The Journal of Rural Health*, *25*(3), 282-289. doi:10.1111/j.1748-0361.2009.00231.x
- Norris, A., Bessett, D., Steinberg, J. R., Kavanaugh, M. L., De Zordo, S., & Becker, D. (2011).
 Abortion stigma: a reconceptualization of constituents, causes, and consequences. *Womens Health Issues, 21*(3 Suppl), S49-54. doi:10.1016/j.whi.2011.02.010
- Nyanzi, S., Nassimbwa, J., Kayizzi, V., & Kabanda, S. (2008). 'African Sex Is Dangerous!' Renegotiating 'Ritual Sex' in Contemporary Masaka District. *Africa: Journal of the International African Institute*, 78(4), 518-539. doi:10.2307/29734370
- Nyblade, L., Stockton, M., Nyato, D., & Wamoyi, J. (2017). Perceived, anticipated and experienced stigma: Exploring manifestations and implications for young people's sexual and reproductive health and access to care in North-Western Tanzania. *Culture, Health & Sexuality, 19*(10), 1092-1107. doi:10.1080/13691058.2017.1293844

Oaks, L. (1994). Fetal spirithood and fetal personhood: The cultural construction of abortion in Japan. *Women's Studies International Forum*, *17*(5), 511-523.
 doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-5395(94)00036-0

Obergefell v. Hodges (Supreme Court 2015).

- Oginni, A., Ahmadu, S. K., Okwesa, N., Adejo, I., & Shekerau, H. (2018). Correlates of individual-level abortion stigma among women seeking elective abortion in Nigeria. *Int J Womens Health*, 10, 361-366. doi:10.2147/ijwh.S143388
- Okamoto, S. K., Kulis, S., Marsiglia, F. F., Steiker, L. K., & Dustman, P. (2014). A continuum of approaches toward developing culturally focused prevention interventions: from adaptation to grounding. *J Prim Prev*, *35*(2), 103-112. doi:10.1007/s10935-013-0334-z
- Omair, A. (2014). Sample size estimation and sampling techniques for selecting a representative sample. *Journal of Health Specialties*, *2*(4), 142-147. doi:10.4103/1658-600x.142783

Oyěwùmí, O. (1997). The Translation of Cultures

- ENGENDERING YORÙBÁ LANGUAGE, ORATURE, AND WORLD-SENSE. In *The Invention of Women* (NED - New edition ed., pp. 157-180): University of Minnesota Press.
- Oyěwùmí, O. (2001). The Translation of Cultures: Engendering Yorùbá Language, Orature, and World-Sense. In (pp. 76-97).
- Pachankis, J. E., & Goldfried, M. R. (2010). Expressive writing for gay-related stress:
 psychosocial benefits and mechanisms underlying improvement. *J Consult Clin Psychol*, 78(1), 98-110. doi:10.1037/a0017580
- Parameshwaran, V., Cockbain, B. C., Hillyard, M., & Price, J. R. (2017). Is the lack of specific lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and queer/questioning (LGBTQ) health care education

in medical school a cause for concern? Evidence from a survey of knowledge and practice among UK medical students. *Journal of Homosexuality, 64*(3), 367-381. doi:10.1080/00918369.2016.1190218

- Parker, C. M., Hirsch, J. S., Philbin, M. M., & Parker, R. G. (2018). The urgent need for research and interventions to address family-based stigma and discrimination against lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer youth. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 63(4), 383-393. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2018.05.018
- Parker, J. J., Veldhuis, C. B., Hughes, T. L., & Haider, S. (2019). Barriers to contraceptive use among adolescents in two semi-rural Nicaraguan communities. *Int J Adolesc Med Health*. doi:10.1515/ijamh-2017-0228
- Paskett, E., Thompson, B., Ammerman, A. S., Ortega, A. N., Marsteller, J., & Richardson, D. (2016). Multilevel Interventions To Address Health Disparities Show Promise In Improving Population Health. *Health Aff (Millwood), 35*(8), 1429-1434. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2015.1360
- Paul, M., Näsström, S. B., Klingberg-Allvin, M., Kiggundu, C., & Larsson, E. C. (2016).
 Healthcare providers balancing norms and practice: challenges and opportunities in providing contraceptive counselling to young people in Uganda a qualitative study. *Global Health Action, 9*(1), 30283. doi:10.3402/gha.v9.30283
- Paz, C., Mascialino, G., Proano, K., & Evans, C. (2020). Psychological intervention change measurement in Latin America: Where from? Where to? *Psychother Res*, 1-10. doi:10.1080/10503307.2020.1750728

- Pearson, Q. M. (2003). Breaking the silence in the counselor education classroom: A training seminar on counseling sexual minority clients. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 81(3), 292-300. doi:10.1002/j.1556-6678.2003.tb00256.x
- Pescosolido, B. A., & Martin, J. K. (2015). The Stigma Complex. *Annu Rev Sociol*, 41, 87-116. doi:10.1146/annurev-soc-071312-145702
- Pescosolido, B. A., Martin, J. K., Lang, A., & Olafsdottir, S. (2008). Rethinking theoretical approaches to stigma: A framework integrating normative influences on stigma (FINIS). *Social Science & Medicine*, 67(3), 431-440. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.03.018
- Pescosolido, B. A., Medina, T. R., Martin, J. K., & Long, J. S. (2013). The "backbone" of stigma: identifying the global core of public prejudice associated with mental illness. *Am J Public Health*, 103(5), 853-860. doi:10.2105/ajph.2012.301147
- Peters, R. (2018). Trust Women: A Progressive Christian Argument for Reproductive Justice.
- Platt, L., Grenfell, P., Meiksin, R., Elmes, J., Sherman, S. G., Sanders, T., . . . Crago, A.-L. (2018). Associations between sex work laws and sex workers' health: A systematic review and meta-analysis of quantitative and qualitative studies. *PLoS medicine*, *15*(12), e1002680-e1002680. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1002680
- Porta, M. (2008). A Dictionary of Epidemiology. *Revista espanola de salud publica, 82*, 433. doi:10.1590/S1135-57272008000400008
- Ramirez-Valles, J., Kuhns, L. M., & Manjarrez, D. (2014). Tal Como Somos/Just As We Are:
 An educational film to reduce stigma toward gay and bisexual men, transgender
 individuals, and persons living with HIV/AIDS. *Journal of Health Communication*,
 19(4), 478-492. doi:10.1080/10810730.2013.821555

- Rao, D., Elshafei, A., Nguyen, M., Hatzenbuehler, M. L., Frey, S., & Go, V. F. (2019). A systematic review of multi-level stigma interventions: state of the science and future directions. *BMC Med*, 17(1), 41. doi:10.1186/s12916-018-1244-y
- Rathbone, A. L., & Prescott, J. (2017). The Use of Mobile Apps and SMS Messaging as Physical and Mental Health Interventions: Systematic Review. *J Med Internet Res*, 19(8), e295. doi:10.2196/jmir.7740
- Razavi, S., & Jenichen, A. (2010). The unhappy marriage of religion and politics: problems and pitfalls for gender equality. *Third World Q*, *31*(6), 833-850.
 doi:10.1080/01436597.2010.502700
- Rehnstrom Loi, U., Gemzell-Danielsson, K., Faxelid, E., & Klingberg-Allvin, M. (2015). Health care providers' perceptions of and attitudes towards induced abortions in sub-Saharan
 Africa and Southeast Asia: a systematic literature review of qualitative and quantitative data. *BMC Public Health*, 15, 139. doi:10.1186/s12889-015-1502-2
- Reisner, S. L., Hughto, J. M., Pardee, D. J., Kuhns, L., Garofalo, R., & Mimiaga, M. J. (2016).
 LifeSkills for Men (LS4M): Pilot Evaluation of a Gender-Affirmative HIV and STI
 Prevention Intervention for Young Adult Transgender Men Who Have Sex with Men. J
 Urban Health, 93(1), 189-205. doi:10.1007/s11524-015-0011-z
- Rice, W. S., Turan, B., Stringer, K. L., Helova, A., White, K., Cockrill, K., & Turan, J. M.
 (2017). Norms and stigma regarding pregnancy decisions during an unintended
 pregnancy: Development and predictors of scales among young women in the U S South. *PLoS One, 12*(3). Retrieved from

https://login.proxy.library.emory.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct= true&db=psyh&AN=2017-13686-001&site=ehost-live&scope=site jmturan@uab.edu

- Richardson, E., & Birn, A.-E. (2011). Sexual and reproductive health and rights in Latin
 America: an analysis of trends, commitments and achievements. *Reproductive Health Matters, 19*(38), 183-196. doi:10.1016/S0968-8080(11)38597-7
- Ross, L. E., Doctor, F., Dimito, A., Kuehl, D., & Armstrong, M. S. (2007). Can talking about oppression reduce depression? Modified CBT group treatment for LGBT people with depression. *Journal of Gay & Lesbian Social Services: Issues in Practice, Policy & Research, 19*(1), 1-15. doi:10.1300/J041v19n01 01
- Rouchou, B. (2013). Consequences of infertility in developing countries. *Perspect Public Health*, *133*(3), 174-179. doi:10.1177/1757913912472415
- Roundtable on the Promotion of Health, E., the Elimination of Health, D., Board on Population,
 H., Public Health, P., & Institute of, M. (2013). In *Leveraging Culture to Address Health Inequalities: Examples from Native Communities: Workshop Summary*. Washington
 (DC): National Academies Press (US)

Copyright 2013 by the National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.

- Roussos, S. T., & Fawcett, S. B. (2000). A Review of Collaborative Partnerships as a Strategy for Improving Community Health. *Annual Review of Public Health*, *21*(1), 369-402. doi:10.1146/annurev.publhealth.21.1.369
- Ruffin, J., & Flagg-Newton, J. L. (2001). Building Capacity for Health Disparity Research at Minority Institutions. *The American Journal of the Medical Sciences*, 322(5), 251-256. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00000441-200111000-00003</u>

- Rye, B. J., & Meaney, G. J. (2009). Impact of a homonegativity awareness workshop on attitudes toward homosexuality. *Journal of Homosexuality*, *56*(1), 31-55. doi:10.1080/00918360802551480
- Scheim, A., Lyons, C., Ezouatchi, R., Liestman, B., Drame, F., Diouf, D., . . . Baral, S. (2019).
 Sexual behavior stigma and depression among transgender women and cisgender men who have sex with men in Cote d'Ivoire. *Ann Epidemiol, 33*, 79-83.e71.
 doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2019.03.002
- Schmitz, R. M., Robinson, B. A., & Tabler, J. (2019). Navigating risk discourses: Sexual and reproductive health and care among lbq+ latina young adults. *Sexuality Research & Social Policy: A Journal of the NSRC*. doi:10.1007/s13178-018-0370-9
- Schomerus, G., & Angermeyer, M. C. (2017). Changes of stigma over time. In W. Gaebel, W.
 Rössler, & N. Sartorius (Eds.), *The stigma of mental illness End of the story?* (pp. 157-172). Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Scott, K. A., Bray, S., & McLemore, M. R. (2020). First, Do No Harm: Why Philanthropy Needs to Re-Examine Its Role in Reproductive Equity and Racial Justice. *Health Equity*, 4(1), 17-22. doi:10.1089/heq.2019.0094
- Seckinelgin, H. (2009). Global activism and sexualities in the time of HIV/AIDS. *Contemporary Politics*, 15(1), 103-118. doi:10.1080/13569770802674246
- Sexual and reproductive health. (2019). Retrieved from <u>http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-</u> <u>topics/Life-stages/sexual-and-reproductive-health/sexual-and-reproductive-health</u>
- Shavers, V. L., Fagan, P., Lawrence, D., McCaskill-Stevens, W., McDonald, P., Browne, D., . . . Trimble, E. (2005). Barriers to racial/ethnic minority application and competition for NIH

research funding. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 97(8), 1063-1077. Retrieved from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16173321

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2575989/

- Shellenberg, K. M., Hessini, L., & Levandowski, B. A. (2014). Developing a scale to measure stigmatizing attitudes and beliefs about women who have abortions: results from Ghana and Zambia. *Women Health*, 54(7), 599-616. doi:10.1080/03630242.2014.919982
- Simon, P. (2012). Collecting ethnic statistics in Europe: a review. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, *35*(8), 1366-1391. doi:10.1080/01419870.2011.607507
- Simon, P., & Piché, V. (2012). Accounting for ethnic and racial diversity: the challenge of enumeration. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 35(8), 1357-1365. doi:10.1080/01419870.2011.634508

Sin. (2020).

- Sirey, J. A., Bruce, M. L., Alexopoulos, G. S., Perlick, D. A., Raue, P., Friedman, S. J., & Meyers, B. S. (2001). Perceived stigma as a predictor of treatment discontinuation in young and older outpatients with depression. *Am J Psychiatry*, *158*(3), 479-481. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.158.3.479
- Stangl, A. L., Lloyd, J. K., Brady, L. M., Holland, C. E., & Baral, S. (2013). A systematic review of interventions to reduce HIV-related stigma and discrimination from 2002 to 2013: how far have we come? *J Int AIDS Soc, 16*(3 Suppl 2), 18734. doi:10.7448/ias.16.3.18734
- Starrs, A. M., Ezeh, A. C., Barker, G., Basu, A., Bertrand, J. T., Blum, R., . . . Ashford, L. S. (2018). Accelerate progress-sexual and reproductive health and rights for all: report of the Guttmacher-Lancet Commission. *Lancet*, 391(10140), 2642-2692. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(18)30293-9

- Steinberg, J. R., Tschann, J. M., Furgerson, D., & Harper, C. C. (2016). Psychosocial factors and pre-abortion psychological health: The significance of stigma. *Soc Sci Med*, 150, 67-75. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.12.007
- Sternberg, P., & Hubley, J. (2004). Evaluating men's involvement as a strategy in sexual and reproductive health promotion. *Health Promot Int, 19*(3), 389-396. doi:10.1093/heapro/dah312
- Sternke, E. A., & Abrahamson, K. (2015). Perceptions of Women with Infertility on Stigma and Disability. *Sexuality and Disability*, 33(1), 3-17. doi:10.1007/s11195-014-9348-6
- Tadele, G., & Amde, W. K. (2019). Health needs, health care seeking behaviour, and utilization of health services among lesbians, gays and bisexuals in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. *Int J Equity Health*, 18(1), 86. doi:10.1186/s12939-019-0991-5
- Thornicroft, G., Mehta, N., Clement, S., Evans-Lacko, S., Doherty, M., Rose, D., . . . Henderson,
 C. (2016). Evidence for effective interventions to reduce mental-health-related stigma
 and discrimination. *Lancet*, 387(10023), 1123-1132. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(15)00298-6
- Tompkins, T. L., Shields, C. N., Hillman, K. M., & White, K. (2015). Reducing stigma toward the transgender community: An evaluation of a humanizing and perspective-taking intervention. *Psychology of Sexual Orientation and Gender Diversity*, 2(1), 34-42. doi:10.1037/sgd0000088
- Treadwell, H. M., Braithwaite, R. L., Braithwaite, K., Oliver, D., & Holliday, R. (2009).
 Leadership Development for Health Researchers at Historically Black Colleges and Universities. *American Journal of Public Health*, 99(S1), S53-S57.
 doi:10.2105/ajph.2008.136069

- Tsadik, M., Lam, L., & Hadush, Z. (2019). Delayed health care seeking is high among patients presenting with sexually transmitted infections in HIV hotspot areas, Gambella town, Ethiopia. *HIV/AIDS (Auckland, N.Z.), 11*, 201-209. doi:10.2147/HIV.S210977
- Tsang, H. W.-h., Fung, K. M.-t., & Chung, R. C.-k. (2010). Self-stigma and stages of change as predictors of treatment adherence of individuals with schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Research*, 180(1), 10-15. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2009.09.001</u>
- Umezulike, A. C., & Efetie, E. R. (2004). The psychological trauma of infertility in Nigeria. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet, 84*(2), 178-180. doi:10.1016/s0020-7292(03)00316-3
- Underwood, M. (1999). Strategies of Survival: Women, Abortion, and Popular Religion in Contemporary Japan. *Journal of the American Academy of Religion, 67*(4), 739-768. Retrieved from www.jstor.org/stable/1466268
- Vanable, P. A., Carey, M. P., Blair, D. C., & Littlewood, R. A. (2006). Impact of HIV-related stigma on health behaviors and psychological adjustment among HIV-positive men and women. *AIDS Behav*, 10(5), 473-482. doi:10.1007/s10461-006-9099-1
- Walters, A. S. (1994). Using visual media to reduce homophobia: A classroom demonstration. *Journal of Sex Education & Therapy*, 20(2), 92-100. Retrieved from <u>https://login.proxy.library.emory.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=</u> <u>true&db=psyh&AN=1995-07564-001&site=ehost-live&scope=site</u>
- West, K., Husnu, S., & Lipps, G. (2015). Imagined contact works in high-prejudice contexts: Investigating imagined contact's effects on anti-gay prejudice in Cyprus and Jamaica. *Sexuality Research & Social Policy: A Journal of the NSRC, 12*(1), 60-69. doi:10.1007/s13178-014-0172-7

- White Hughto, J. M., Reisner, S. L., & Pachankis, J. E. (2015). Transgender stigma and health: A critical review of stigma determinants, mechanisms, and interventions. *Soc Sci Med*, 147, 222-231. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.11.010
- Whiteford, L. M., & Gonzalez, L. (1995). Stigma: The hidden burden of infertility. *Social Science & Medicine*, 40(1), 27-36. doi:10.1016/0277-9536(94)00124-C
- . WHO Guidelines Approved by the Guidelines Review Committee. (2016). In *Consolidated Guidelines on HIV Prevention, Diagnosis, Treatment and Care for Key Populations 2016 Update*. Geneva: World Health Organization

Copyright (c) World Health Organization 2016.

- Williams, K. A., & Chapman, M. V. (2011). Comparing Health and Mental Health Needs, Service Use, and Barriers to Services among Sexual Minority Youths and Their Peers. *Health & Social Work*, 36(3), 197-206. doi:10.1093/hsw/36.3.197
- Wingo, E., Ingraham, N., & Roberts, S. C. M. (2018). Reproductive Health Care Priorities and Barriers to Effective Care for LGBTQ People Assigned Female at Birth: A Qualitative Study. *Women's Health Issues, 28*(4), 350-357.

doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2018.03.002</u>

- Wisdom, J., & Creswell, J. W. Mixed methods: Integrating quantitative and qualitative data collection and analysis while studying patient-centered medical home models. Retrieved from https://pcmh.ahrq.gov/page/mixed-methods-integrating-quantitative-and-qualitative-data-collection-and-analysis-while
- Wright, R. L., Fawson, P. R., Frost, C. J., & Turok, D. K. (2017). US Men's perceptions and experiences of emergency contraceptives. *American Journal of Men's Health*, 11(3), 469-478. doi:10.1177/1557988315595857

Wright, T. (2000). Gay Organizations, NGOs, and the Globalization of Sexual Identity: The Case of Bolivia. *Journal of Latin American Anthropology*, 5(2), 89-111.
doi:10.1525/jlca.2000.5.2.89

- Yadavaia, J. E., & Hayes, S. C. (2012). Acceptance and commitment therapy for self-stigma around sexual orientation: A multiple baseline evaluation. *Cognitive and Behavioral Practice*, 19(4), 545-559. doi:10.1016/j.cbpra.2011.09.002
- Yilmaz, E., & Kavak, F. (2019). The effect of stigma on depression levels of Turkish women with infertility. *Perspect Psychiatr Care*, 55(3), 378-382. doi:10.1111/ppc.12319
- Ying, L. Y., Wu, L. H., & Loke, A. Y. (2015). Gender differences in experiences with and adjustments to infertility: A literature review. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 52(10), 1640-1652. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2015.05.004</u>

Authors	Stigmatizing Behavior	Study Design	Region	Study Population	Sample Size	Strategy of Stigma Intervention	Intervention Level	Measurement Instruments	Outcomes
Arístegui, Inés; Radusky, Pablo D.; Zalazar, Virginia; Romero, Marcela; Schwartz, Jessica; Sued, Omar (2017)	Sexual behaviors - trans	Qualitative	Argentina	Stigmatized	20	Policy	Structural	Qualitative	Participants shared the law had a positive impact by creating a tool to deal with stigma and discrimination and reported reduced internalized stigma
Banerjee, S. K.; Andersen, K. L.; Warvadekar, J.; Pearson, E. (2013)	Pregnancy - abortion	Cross- sectional	Bihar and Jharkhan d, India	Community	1400	Behavior change communication	Community	Survey for community level measures of behavior change communicatio n intervention	Increased women's knowledge of abortion and improved perceived social support for abortion within their family

Appendix A. Studies Included in Review

Bartos, S. E.; Berger, I.; Hegarty, P. (2014)	Sexual behaviors - review	Review	North America, Western Europe, Middle East, South Asia, Australia and Africa	community	92	Combination	Individual and interperson al	Evaluates effectiveness of included (159) interventions	Educational interventions had moderate effect in improving attitudes. Contact with LGB had a moderate positive effect on attitudes, education plus contact moderately effective in improving attitudes, emotions, and behavioral intentions.
Bauermeister, J. A.; Muessig, K. E.; LeGrand, S.; Flores, D. D.; Choi, S. K.; Dong, W.; Sallabank, G.; Hightow- Weidman, L. B. (2018)	Sexual behaviors - sexual orientation	Mixed methods	North Carolina, USA	Stigmatized	238	Counseling/Sup port	Individual	Mixed methods, qual data, validated scales and created questions	Internalized homophobia: decreased in a linear relationship over time but only observed for individuals with a high school degree or higher. Sexual prejudice: overall change in decreasing linear relationship but only for younger participants
Belfrage, Madeleine; Ortíz Ramírez, Olivia; Sorhaindo, Annik (2019)	Pregnancy - abortion	Mixed methods	Mexico	Stigmatized	18	Counseling/Sup port	Individual	Validated scale and qualitativel data	Reduced individual level abortion stigma

Benoit, C.; Belle-Isle, L.; Smith, M.; Phillips, R.; Shumka, L.; Atchison, C.; Jansson, M.; Loppie, C.; Flagg, J. (2017)	Sexual behaviors - FSW	Qualitative	Canada (one urban center)	Stigmatized	14	Educational/Info rmational	Individual, interperson al, community	Qualitative	Reduced sex worker's internal stigma
Bristol, Sarah; Kostelec, Teresa; MacDonald, Ryan (2018)	Sexual behaviors - LGBT	Non- randomized pre/post without control	Urban communit y hospital in Mid- Atlantic region	Providers	95	Educational/Info rmational	individual interperson al	Validated scale	Unmatched survey aggregate scores, AIM index increased by 8% and was statistically sig.
Burk, J.; Park, M.; Saewyc, E. M. (2018)	Sexual behaviors - sexual orientation	Cross- sectional	British Colombia , Canada	Community	21075	Combination	Organizatio nal	Used population level survey to measure changes in schools with exposure	LGB and heterosexual girls who exposed to intervention reported significantly better outcomes
Caceres, C. F.; Rosasco, A. M.; Mandel, J. S.; Hearst, N. (1994)	Pregnancy - contraceptive s	Randomized control trial	Peru (South America)	Community	1213	Combination	Organizatio nal, individual, interperson al	Created and validated	Increased acceptability of contraception and condoms

Case, Kim A.; Stewart, Briana (2013)	Sexual behaviors - trans	Non- randomized pre/post without control	Texas	community	132	Combination	Individual, interperson al	Created and used items from previous research	No intervention was more effective than the others at reducing anti- transsexual prejudice. There was a sig. decrease in overall ratings of negative attitudes and beliefs in myths about transsexuality.
Chaudoir, S. R.; Wang, K.; Pachankis, J. E. (2017)	Sexual behaviors - sexual minority	Review	Blank	Community		Combination	All	Evaluated interventions efficacy	Authors found that the majority of studies designed to directly reduce sexual minority stressors over bolstering coping mechanisms. Most studies are also in the early stages of efficacy testing
Christensen, J. L.; Miller, L. C.; Appleby, P. R.; Corsbie- Massay, C.; Godoy, C. G.; Marsella, S. C.; Read, S. J.	sexual behaviors - MSM	Randomized control trial	United States	Stigmatized	935	skill development	Individual	Validated scale	Exposure to intervention let to immediate mean shame reduction

(2013)

Cockrill, K.; Biggs, A (2018)	Pregnancy - abortion	Cohort	Alabama, Arkansas, California Maryland Missouri New Jersey, New York Wisconsi n, Utah	Stigmatized	109	Counseling/Sup port	Individual	Created scale: Reproductive events and experiences scale (REES) and completed principal component factor analysis	Reduced abortion stigma
Cramwinckel, Florien M.; van der Toorn, Jojanneke; Scheepers, Daan T. (2018)	Sexual behaviors - sexual orientation	Review	Blank	Individual		Combination	Individual interperson al	n/a	Passive interventions like watching movies or plays sometimes successful, more active and immersive interventions seem promising. Contact interventions usually successful but depends on factors that if not met can backfire. Alliances seem to have most potential for long- lasting and meaningful.

Dessel, Adrienne B (2010)	Sexual behaviors - sexual orientation	Randomized control trial		Teachers	36	Contact	Individual interperson al	Validated scales	Teacher participation in dialogue groups showed statistical sig. to positive change from pre to post-test on variables of civil rights, feelings about gays, feelings about lesbians, perspective taking and behavior.
Duby, Z.; Fong-Jaen, F.; Nkosi, B.; Brown, B.; Scheibe, A. (2019)	Sexual behaviors - FSW and MSM	Mixed methods	South Africa (Eastern Cape, Free State, KwaZulu -Natal, Limpop and Northern Cape	Providers	405	Educational/Info rmational	Individual interperson al	Created questionnaire and qualitative (IDIs)	Increased awareness of stigma affecting key populations, important to be friendly and supportive to sex workers and MSM
Eke, A. N.; Johnson, W. D.; O'Leary, A.; Rebchook, G. M.; Huebner, D. M.; Peterson, J. L.; Kegeles, S. M. (2019)	Sexual behaviors - MSM	Control trial	Dallas and Houston, Texas	Stigmatized	666	Combination	Community	Measures/scal es form previous research	Intervention effect was statistically significant for comfort with being gay increasing during the intervention when contrasted with control group

Finken, Laura L. (2002)	Sexual behaviors - gay	Control trial	United States	Community	280	Educational/Info rmational	Individual	Validated scale	Overall intervention students reported less homonegativity than comparison group , and overall men reported more anti-gay prejudice than women.
Galhardo, A.; Cunha, M.; Pinto-Gouveia, J. (2013)	Pregnancy - infertility	Control trial	Portugal	Stigmatized	92	Skill development	Individual	Validated scales	Lower internal and external shame
Geibel, S.; Hossain, S. M.; Pulerwitz, J.; Sultana, N.; Hossain, T.; Roy, S.; Burnett- Zieman, B.; Stackpool- Moore, L.; Friedland, B. A.; Yasmin, R.; Sadiq, N.; Yam, E. (2016)	Sexual behaviors - sex before marriage	Cohort	Banglade sh	Providers	300	Combination	Individual interperson al	Created questionnaire and client exit interviews	Changes in provider attitudes toward sexually active young people, sex workers, MSM, Hijra (trans) and young unmarried pregnant women

Gurnani, V.; Beattie, T. S.; Bhattacharjee, P.; Mohan, H. L.; Maddur, S.; Washington, R.; Isac, S.; Ramesh, B. M.; Moses, S.; Blanchard, J. F, (2011)	Sexual behaviors - FSW	Other (impact evaluation)	Karnatak a state, south India	Community	14640	Combination	Individual, organizatio nal, community, structural	Impact evaluation measurements	News of FSW topics increased from 375 in 2006 to 535 in 2008. More stories had quotes or stories from FSW community reps. Proportion of negative news decreased from 11% in 2006 to 4% in 2008
Hanschmidt, F.; Linde, K.; Hilbert, A.; Riedel-Heller, S. G.; Kersting, A. (2016)	Pregnancy - abortion	Review	All interventi ons included were in the U.S.	Stigmatized community and provider		Counseling/Sup port	Individual	Validated scale and qualitative data	Three interventions found, two for providers and one for women who have had an abortion.
Henry, Amber (2017)	Sexual behaviors - LGBT	Non- randomized pre/post without control	Central Delaware	Providers	8	Educational/Info rmational	Individual interperson al	Validated scale	All three measured concepts had positive results. Providers had a 16% increase in knowledge, 1.24% increase in skills, 22% increase in attitudes (stat. sig.) and 63% increase in LGBT disclosure
Hodson, Gordon; Choma, Becky L.; Costello,	Sexual behaviors - gay	Control trial	Canada	Community	101	Emotional	Individual	Validated scales	the simulation promoted more favorable attitudes toward homosexuals.

Continued from

previous page

Kimberly

(2009)

Hopkins Shah, Holly Renee (2001)	Sexual behaviors - sexual orientation	Other (post survey)	San Francisco , CA	Teachers	115	Educational/Info rmational	Individual interperson al	Validated scales	Participants perceived a change in overall attitudes toward GLBT students following professional development training
Hull, Shawnika J.; Davis, Catasha R.; Hollander, Gary; Gasiorowicz, Mari; Jeffries, William L. I. V.; Gray, Simone; Bertolli, Jeanne; Mohr, Anneke (2017)	Sexual behaviors - gay	Cross- sectional	Milwauke e	Community	3592	Emotional	Community	Population level survey to evaluate social marketing campaign	Statistically sig. positive impact on perceptions of stigma, perceptions of community acceptance, and positive attitudes toward gay men.
Hussey, Heather D.; Bisconti, Toni L. (2010)	Sexual behaviors - sexual minority	Control trial	New Hampshir e (The Universit y of New Hampshir e)	Community	82	Combination	Individual interperson al	Validated scales	Both interventions had statistical difference in sexual minority stigma reduction, one interaction was not more effective than the other

Israel, Tania; Choi, Andrew Young; Goodman, Joshua A.; Matsuno, Emmie; Lin, Yen-Jui; Kary, Krishna G.; Merrill, Caitlin R. S. (2019)	Sexual behaviors - bisexual	Randomized control trial	United States	Stigmatized	641	Skill development	Individual	Validated scales	Statistically significant for lowering internalized binegativity, efficacious for reducing Anticipated Binegativity and increasing Identity Affirmation compared with controls
Jaramillo, Susan (2018)	Pregnancy - abortion	Non- randomized pre/post without control	Alabama, Arizona, Arkansas, California Florida Georgia, Kentucky , Maryland Pennsylv ania Tennesse e, Virginia, Washingt on, and Wyoming in U.S. and Quebec and Kelowna in Canada	Stigmatized	46	Spiritual	Individual	Validated scales	Significant reduction in shame and increased self- esteem for group at Rachel's Vineyard (weekend format) intervention. Also had sig. Reduction in PTSD symptoms of avoidance and hyperarousal. Participants indicated the spiritual aspect was important to them.

Kwon, Paul; Hugelshofer, Daniela S (2012)	Sexual behaviors - LGB	Randomized control trial	Pacific Northwes t	Community	186	Contact	Individual	Validated scales	Participants in intervention group had significant increases in positive attitudes on the Attitudes Toward Gay Men, Modern Homonegativity Scale (lesbian and gay) and Attitudes regarding Bisexuality Scale
LaCosse, Jennifer; Plant, E. Ashby (2018)	Sexual behaviors - sexual minority	Randomized control trial	United States and U.S. Southeast	Community	303	Contact	individual	Validated scale	Studies 1-3 found participants in experimental group (imagined contact with a famous gay or lesbian) reported sig. more positive affect during imagined experience, less concern with misidentification, more eagerness to meet and befriend imagined famous contact than control group.
Layer, S. D.; Roberts, C.; Wild, K.; Walters, J. (2004)	Pregnancy - abortion	Non- randomized pre/post without control	Florida	Stigmatized	35	Spiritual	Individual	Validated scales	Reduction in shame and posttraumatic stress in participants. Shame was reduced in the weekend group and 8-week program

Continued from

previous page

- - -

reduced IES-R measures.

.....

Lelutiu- Weinberger, Corina; Pachankis, John E. (2017)	Sexual behaviors - LGBT	Non- randomized pre/post without control	Romania	Providers	33	Educational/Info rmational	Individual interperson al	Adaptions from validated scales used in US	LGBT-affirmative practice attitudes and comfort in addressing mental health of LGBT increased sig. and homonegative and trans negative attitudes decreased sig. They also rated the training as highly acceptable.
Martin, L. A.; Debbink, M.; Hassinger, J.; Youatt, E.; Harris, L. H (2014)	Pregnancy - abortion	Non- randomized pre/post without control	United States: across seven sites in the East and West coast, Midwest and South.	providers	79	Counseling/Sup port	Individual	Used three validated scales and newly created scale	Significant reduction in Abortion Provider Stigma Scale total score over time.
Pachankis, J. E.; Goldfried, M. R. (2019)	Sexual behaviors - gay	Randomized control trial	22 public universiti es across the U.S.	Stigmatized	77	Combination	Individual	Validated scales	Participants in experimental groups reported sig. higher positive affect than control group. The experimental group

1/7 0

- - - - - -

Page 104

Continued from previous page									also reported sig. more open about being gay at 3- month follow-up.
Parker, Caroline M.; Hirsch, Jennifer S.; Philbin, Morgan M.; Parker, Richard G. (2018)	Sexual behaviors - LGBT youth	Review	Blank	Community		Combination	Interperson al	Most were not evaluated	The review found very few peer- reviewed publications describing interventions to reduce family stigma and discrimination against LGBTQ youth
Pearson, Quinn M. (2003)	Sexual behaviors - sexual minority	Non- randomized pre/post without control	Blank	Providers	10	Educational/Info rmational	Individual interperson al	Created questionnaire	Unmatched Surveys showed increase in means from pre-to post survey on sexual orientation. Surveys suggested a positive shift in knowledge, interest and attitudes
Ramirez- Valles, Jesus; Kuhns, Lisa M.; Manjarrez, Dianna (2014)	Sexual behaviors - sexual minority	Non- randomized pre/post without control	Chicago, IL	Community	44	Educational/Info rmational	Individual, community	Created questionnaire with some previous measures	Pretest/Posttest mean scores found to be sig. reduced at posttest. Sensitivity analysis with just Latinos showed similar results. Comparison by gender showed reduction in men but not women.

Reisner, S. L.; Hughto, J. M.; Pardee, D. J.; Kuhns, L.; Garofalo, R.; Mimiaga, M. J. (2016)	Sexual behaviors - trans MSM	Mixed methods	Boston, MA	Stigmatized	18	Skill development	Individual interperson al	Validated scales	High acceptability of intervention. TG- AIM score post- baseline suggested greater integration into the transgender community and improved gender identity adjustment
Ross, Lori E.; Doctor, Farzana; Dimito, Anne; Kuehl, Dale; Armstrong, M. Sharon (2007)	Sexual behaviors - LGBT	Non- randomized pre/post without control	Blank	Stigmatized	23	Counseling/Sup port	Individual	Validated scales	Effective in decreasing depression and increasing self- esteem among LGBT participants, but no sig. change in internalized homophobia.
Rye, B. J.; Meaney, Glenn J. (2009)	Sexual behaviors - gay	Non- randomized pre/post with control	Canada	Community	370	Contact	Individual	Validated scales	Intervention group was less homonegative, women were less homonegative than men, and workshop participants were more Europhilic.
Tompkins, Tanya L.; Shields, Chloe N.; Hillman, Kimberly M.; White, Kadi (2015)	Sexual behaviors - trans	Randomized control trial	Pacific Northwes t	Community	100	Combination	Individual	Validated scales	No significant group difference emerged from pretest measures. GTS scores in humanizing condition were sig. higher at posttest and sig interaction

Page 106

Continued from previous page									also found for social distance.
Walters, Andrew S (1994)	Sexual behaviors - gay	Non- randomized pre/post with control	United States	Community	65	Educational/Info rmational	Individual	Validated scales	Lecture plus presentation group expressed sig. lowered homophobia and increased empathy at T2 not found in control group.
West, Keon; Husnu, Shenel; Lipps, Garth (2015)	Sexual behaviors - gay	Randomized control trial	Cyprus (study 1) and Jamaica(s tudy 2) (high prejudice context)	Community	142	Contact	Individual	Validated scales	Study 1) imagined contact experimental group reported more positive attitudes and greater intentions to engage in future contact than controls. Study 2) participants in imagined contact condition reported more positive attitudes toward gay men than control group.
White Hughto, J. M.; Reisner, S. L.; Pachankis, J. E. (2015)	Sexual behaviors - trans	Review	United States	Stigmatized community		Combination	All	Review	Found need for interventions to reduce stigma towards transgender people at the individual, interpersonal, and structural level.

Yadavaia, James E.; Hayes, Steven C. (2012)	Sexual behaviors - sexual orientation	Non- randomized pre/post without control	Nevada	Stigmatized	5	Counseling/Sup port	individual	Validated scales	Improvements in interference and distress from baseline to later time points in all participants, provided preliminary support for effectiveness of ACT for self-stigma around sexual orientation
									orientation.

Appendix B. Database Search Terms

PubMed Search terms

Abortion

(intervention[tw] OR interventions[tw] OR intervene[tw] OR intervened[tw] OR intervening[tw] OR implement[tw] OR implements[tw] OR implemented[tw] OR implementation[tw] OR implementations[tw] OR program[tw] OR programs[tw] OR programming[tw]) AND (abortion[tw] OR pregnancy termination[tw]) AND (reduce[tw] OR reducing[tw] OR reduction[tw] OR social change OR impact[tw] OR impacts[tw]) AND ((social stigma[mh] OR shame[mh] OR prejudice[mh] OR "Discrimination (Psychology)"[mh] OR stigma[tw] OR stigmas[tw] OR stigmati*[tw] OR stereotyp*[tw] OR shame[tw] OR shames[tw] OR shaming[tw] OR discrimination[tw] OR discriminating[tw] OR "social distance"[tw] OR prejudice[tw] OR prejudices[tw] OR blame[tw] OR blames[tw])

Infertility

(intervention[tw] OR interventions[tw] OR intervene[tw] OR intervened[tw] OR intervening[tw] OR implements[tw] OR implements[tw] OR implemented[tw] OR implementation[tw] OR implements[tw] OR program[tw] OR programs[tw] OR programming[tw]) AND ((infertility[tw] OR involuntary childlessness[tw] OR female infertility[tw] OR male infertility[tw] OR reproductive sterility[tw] OR sterility[tw] OR subfertility[tw] OR sub-fertility[tw] OR reproductive sterility[tw] OR reduction[tw] OR social change OR impact[tw] OR impacts[tw]) AND ((social stigma[mh] OR shame[mh] OR prejudice[mh] OR "Discrimination (Psychology)"[mh] OR stigma[tw] OR stigmas[tw] OR stigmati*[tw] OR stereotyp*[tw] OR shame[tw] OR shames[tw] OR shames[tw] OR prejudices[tw] OR blames[tw] OR blames[tw])

Sexual behaviors

(intervention[tw] OR interventions[tw] OR intervene[tw] OR intervened[tw] OR intervening[tw] OR implement[tw] OR implements[tw] OR implemented[tw] OR implementation[tw] OR implementations[tw] OR program[tw] OR programs[tw] OR programming[tw]) AND (sexual behavior[tw] OR sexual behaviour[tw] OR Sexual Activities[tw] OR Sexual Activity[tw] OR Activities, Sexual[tw] OR Activity, Sexual[tw] OR Sex Behavior[tw] OR Behavior, Sex[tw] OR Oral Sex[tw] OR Sex, Oral[tw] OR Sexual Orientation[tw] OR Orientation, Sexual[tw] OR Sex Orientation[tw] OR Premarital Sex Behavior[tw] OR Behavior, Premarital Sex[tw] OR Anal Sex[tw] OR Sex, Anal[tw]) AND (reduce[tw] OR reducing[tw] OR reduction[tw] OR social change OR impact[tw] OR impacts[tw]) AND (social stigma OR shame OR prejudice OR "Discrimination (Psychology)" OR stigma OR stigmas OR stigmati* OR stereotyp* OR shame OR shames OR shaming OR discrimination OR discriminating OR "social distance" OR prejudice OR prejudices OR blame OR blames)

Contraception

(intervention[tw] OR interventions[tw] OR intervene[tw] OR intervened[tw] OR intervening[tw] OR implement[tw] OR implements[tw] OR implemented[tw] OR implementation[tw] OR implementations[tw] OR program[tw] OR programs[tw] OR programming[tw]) AND (birth control[tw] OR contraception[tw] OR contracept*[tw] OR contraceptive agents[tw] OR contraceptive devices[tw] OR contraception behavior[tw] OR family planning[tw] OR family planning services[tw]) AND (reduce[tw] OR reducing[tw] OR reduction[tw] OR social change OR impact[tw] OR impacts[tw]) AND (social stigma[mh] OR shame[mh] OR prejudice[mh] OR "Discrimination (Psychology)"[mh] OR stigma[tw] OR stigmas[tw] OR stigmati*[tw] OR stereotyp*[tw] OR shame[tw] OR shames[tw] OR shaming[tw] OR discrimination[tw] OR discriminating[tw] OR "social distance"[tw] OR prejudice[tw] OR prejudices[tw] OR blame[tw] OR blames[tw])

CINAHL and PsycINFO search terms

Abortion

(intervention OR interventions OR intervene OR intervened OR intervening OR implement OR implements OR implemented OR implementation OR implementations OR program OR programs OR programming) AND (abortion OR pregnancy termination) AND (reduce OR reducing OR reduction OR social change OR impact OR impacts) AND (social stigma OR shame OR prejudice OR "Discrimination (Psychology)" OR stigma OR stigmas OR stigmati* OR stereotyp* OR shame OR shames OR shaming OR discrimination OR discriminating OR "social distance" OR prejudice OR prejudices OR blame OR blames)

Infertility

(intervention OR interventions OR intervene OR intervened OR intervening OR implement OR implements OR implemented OR implementation OR implementations OR program OR programs OR programming) AND (infertility OR involuntary childlessness OR female infertility OR male infertility OR reproductive sterility OR sterility OR subfertility OR sub-fertility) AND (reduce OR reducing OR reduction OR social change OR impact OR impacts) AND (social stigma OR shame OR prejudice OR "Discrimination (Psychology)" OR stigma OR

stigmas OR stigmati* OR stereotyp* OR shame OR shames OR shaming OR discrimination OR discriminating OR "social distance" OR prejudice OR prejudices OR blame OR blames)

Sexual Behavior

(intervention OR interventions OR intervene OR intervened OR intervening OR implement OR implements OR implemented OR implementation OR implementations OR program OR programs OR programming) AND (sexual behavior OR sexual behaviour OR Sexual Activities OR Sexual Activity OR Activities, Sexual OR Activity, Sexual OR Sex Behavior OR Behavior, Sex OR Oral Sex OR Sex, Oral OR Sexual Orientation OR Orientation, Sexual OR Sex, Oral OR Sexual OR Behavior, Premarital Sex OR Anal Sex OR Sex, Anal) AND (reduce OR reducing OR reduction OR social change OR impact OR impacts) AND (social stigma OR shame OR prejudice OR "Discrimination (Psychology)" OR stigma OR stigmas OR stigmati* OR stereotyp* OR shame OR shames OR shaming OR discrimination OR discrimination OR behavior, OR behavior, OR behavior, OR behavior, OR shames OR shames OR blame OR blames)

Contraceptives

(intervention OR interventions OR intervene OR intervened OR intervening OR implement OR implements OR implemented OR implementation OR implementations OR program OR programs OR programming) AND (birth control OR contraception OR contracept* OR contraceptive agents OR contraceptive devices OR contraception behavior OR family planning OR family planning services) AND (reduce OR reducing OR reduction OR social change OR impact OR impacts) AND (social stigma OR shame OR prejudice OR "Discrimination (Psychology)" OR stigma OR stigmas OR stigmati* OR stereotyp* OR shame OR shames OR shaming OR discrimination OR discriminating OR "social distance" OR prejudice OR prejudice OR prejudice OR prejudice OR blames)